

Schools' Provision for Gifted and Talented Students

June 2008

Ko te Tamaiti te Pūtake o te Kaupapa The Child – the Heart of the Matter

Published 2008 © Crown copyright Education Evaluation Reports ISBN 978-0-478-32875-2 (MS Word) ISBN 978-0-478-32876-9 (PDF) ISBN 978-0-478-32877-6 (HTML) ISBN 978-0-478-32878-3 (pbk.)

ERO reports are published on the ERO web site – **www.ero.govt.nz** – and are available from the Manager Public Affairs, Education Review Office Corporate Office, Box 2799, Wellington 6140.

We welcome your comments and suggestions on the issues raised in these reports.

Foreword

The New Zealand Government has grouped its priorities and activities under three themes:

- Economic transformation
- Families, young and old
- National identity.

The Education Review Office (ERO) contributes to these themes through its role of reviewing and reporting on the quality of education in schools and early childhood education services.

ERO's whakataukī demonstrates the importance we place on the educational achievement of our children and young people:

Ko te Tamaiti te Pūtake o te Kaupapa The Child – the Heart of the Matter

In our daily work we have the privilege of going into schools and early childhood services, and this gives us a current picture of what is happening throughout the country. We are then able to collate and analyse this information so that it can be used to benefit the education sector and, therefore, the children in our education system. ERO's reports contribute sound information for work undertaken to support the Government's themes.

A priority for the Government is that young people in New Zealand achieve to their full potential. This report on the education provided for students with particular gifts and talents discusses how well schools provide for this particular group of students, and the companion report on good practice in this area was written to help school boards of trustees, principals and staff think about how they might apply the ideas in their own schools.

The successful delivery of education relies on many people and organisations across the community working together. We hope the information in this booklet will help them in their task.

Graham Stoop Chief Review Officer June 2008

Contents

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	1
Recommendations for improvement	2
INTRODUCTION	3
Strategic links	3
ERO's previous evaluation of provision for gifted and talented students	4
Background to Gifted and Talented Education in New Zealand	4
Characteristics of effective provision	6
ERO's evaluation framework	7
FINDINGS	9
School leadership	9
Defining and identifying giftedness and talent	16
Schools' programmes and provision for gifted and talented students	24
Schools' review of their provision for gifted and talented students	34
Promoting positive outcomes for gifted and talented students	39
Schools' overall provision for gifted and talented students	46
CONCLUSION	49
Shared understanding about gifted and talented	49
Good quality provision for gifted and talented	50
Positive outcomes for gifted and talented	52
RECOMMENDATIONS	54
APPENDIX ONE: Methodology	55
Sample	55
Data collection	56
APPENDIX TWO: Glossary	57
APPENDIX THREE: Self-review questions and indicators for your school	63
APPENDIX FOUR: Evaluation Statistics	66

Executive summary

This report presents the Education Review Office's findings from an evaluation of schools' provision for gifted and talented students.

ERO evaluated the provision for gifted and talented students in 315 schools reviewed in Terms 3 and 4, 2007. Of the schools reviewed, 261 were primary schools, and 54 were secondary schools.

National Administration Guideline (NAG) 1 (iii)(c) requires boards of trustees, through their principals and staff, to use good quality assessment information to identify students who have special needs (including gifted and talented), and to develop and implement teaching and learning strategies to meet the needs of these students. Schools were notified about the inclusion of gifted and talented students in this NAG in December 2003, and have been required to implement provision for gifted and talented students since Term 1, 2005.

Although the schools in this evaluation were at various stages in developing the quality of their provision, many had established a shared understanding of what it was to be gifted and talented in their school. These schools had implemented programmes that were beneficial to gifted and talented students. A few schools were just beginning to make special provision for gifted and talented students.

School leaders were enthusiastic about supporting the achievement of gifted and talented students in just over half the schools. This foundation was particularly beneficial for the quality of the programmes they chose to provide for gifted and talented students. Almost half the schools had developed inclusive and appropriate definitions and identification processes, and implemented responsive and appropriate programmes for gifted and talented students. Almost a quarter had developed processes for reviewing the effectiveness of their provision. Nearly half the schools were promoting positive outcomes for identified gifted and talented students.

The findings from this evaluation highlight three main stages in a school's progress towards effective provision for gifted and talented students. The three stages involve:

- developing a shared understanding of gifted and talented education;
- implementing good quality provision for gifted and talented students; and
- ensuring positive outcomes for gifted and talented students.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

RECOMMENDATIONS FOR IMPROVEMENT

ERO recommends that teachers:

- communicate, consult, and collaborate with parents, whānau, and the school community to develop a shared understanding about gifted and talented education;
- provide challenging and differentiated programmes for gifted and talented students in the regular classroom;
- provide appropriate feedback and support for gifted and talented students to achieve in and make progress with their gifts or talents;
- develop an understanding that every teacher has responsibility to teach the gifted and talented; and
- develop awareness of the particular social and emotional characteristics of gifted and talented students, and promote their holistic wellbeing.

ERO recommends that school leaders:

- designate a person or team to lead the school's provision for gifted and talented students and give them support;
- develop and foster a school-wide understanding of gifted and talented education;
- promote ongoing participation in school-wide professional development, and specialist training and development for people specifically responsible for gifted and talented education;
- develop inclusive and appropriate definitions and identification processes for gifted and talented students that reflect student diversity and encompass a variety of gifts and talents; and
- institute appropriate self-review processes to determine the effectiveness of provision for gifted and talented students.

ERO recommends that the Ministry of Education consider how best to:

- encourage schools to develop improved assessment strategies consistent with the New Zealand Curriculum, to demonstrate the range of abilities and the achievement of gifted and talented students;
- provide targeted, high quality professional development to rural and low decile schools on providing for gifted and talented students; and
- develop links and networks between clusters of early childhood services and schools so that there is ongoing support for gifted and talented students at transition points in the education.

NTRODUCTION

PAGE 3

Introduction

This report presents ERO's findings from an evaluation of the quality of schools' provision for gifted and talented students. It includes information about how well schools support gifted and talented students in achieving to their potential. The report also discusses schools' areas of strength and the challenges they face in providing for gifted and talented students.

STRATEGIC LINKS

National Administration Guideline (NAG) 1 (iii)(c) requires boards of trustees, through their principals and staff, to use good quality assessment information to identify students who have special needs (including gifted and talented), and to develop and implement teaching and learning strategies to meet the needs of these students. Schools were notified about the inclusion of gifted and talented students in this NAG in December 2003, and have been required to implement provision for gifted and talented students since Term 1, 2005.

The Government has established national priorities under the following themes:

- economic transformation;
- families, young and old; and
- national identity.¹

The provision of programmes for gifted and talented students contributes to these priorities and goals. Effective gifted and talented programmes help students to be healthy, innovative, creative and confident learners who achieve to their potential. These programmes recognise giftedness and talent in specific academic subjects, thinking, arts, sports, culture, creativity, spirituality, and leadership. Through these programmes students are encouraged to take pride in who they are and in their abilities, and to use these attributes in contributing to New Zealand society.

The Ministry of Education's *Statement of Intent* 2008–2013² notes, amongst its priorities, the importance of embedding the principles of personalising learning into the education system. Personalised learning is about making learning relevant and meaningful to the learner and has a strong focus on students achieving to their potential and being successful. In particular, three factors influence provision for gifted and talented students:

- students will know how to take control of their own learning;
- parents and whānau will be partners in their children's learning; and
- teachers will have high expectations for each student, know how they learn, and adjust their teaching to meet learning needs.³

- 1 See http://www.dpmc. govt.nz/dpmc/publications/ government-priorities.html
- 2 Ministry of Education. (2008) Statement of Intent, 2008–2013. Wellington: Ministry of Education.
- 3 See http://www.tki.org.nz/r/ personalising_learning/

ERO'S PREVIOUS EVALUATION OF PROVISION FOR GIFTED AND TALENTED STUDENTS

In 1998, ERO published *Working with Students with Special Abilities*. This report gave teachers and parents examples of good practice and school initiatives for gifted and talented education (GATE). The report also outlined factors and issues critical for successful provision for these students.

Critical factors

- School-wide understanding and acceptance of individual difference.
- Commitment and leadership from senior management.
- Board of trustees' support.
- Knowledgeable and skilled teaching staff.
- Written and implemented policy, processes, and procedures.
- Range of provision to meet individual student needs.
- Sensitivity to cultural differences.
- Self review of provision.

Issues

- Identification methods.
- Teaching approach to be taken, for example extension, enrichment, acceleration, withdrawal.
- Resourcing of provision.
- Continuity of provision.
- Cultural considerations.
- Teacher professional development.

These factors and issues remain as important features in the successful provision for gifted and talented students.

BACKGROUND TO GIFTED AND TALENTED EDUCATION IN NEW ZEALAND

The Ministry of Education (the Ministry) has instigated several initiatives to provide for gifted and talented students.

- In 1998, following the publication of ERO's evaluation report *Working with Students with Special Abilities*, the Ministry established the Advisory Group on Gifted Education to identify needs and investigate ways of addressing these.
- This resulted in the 2000 publication *Gifted and Talented Students: Meeting Their Needs in New Zealand Schools.*⁴ This booklet gave schools and teachers information to help them identify and support gifted and talented students to achieve to their full potential.

4 Ministry of Education. (2000) Gifted and Talented Students: Meeting their Needs in New Zealand Schools. Wellington: Ministry of Education.

- A gifted and talented community was added to Te Kete Ipurangi (TKI)⁵ in 2000 with case studies and online resources for schools, teachers, and parents.
- School Support Services⁶ established an advisory group in 2001 to provide professional development to schools. This group has since been expanded.
- In 2001, the Ministry established the *Working Party on Gifted Education* to provide advice on a policy and funding framework for gifted education, and recommended the specific inclusion of gifted and talented students in NAG 1 (iii) [subsequently NAG 1 (iii)(c)].
- In 2002, the Minister of Education released Initiatives for *Gifted and Talented Learners*,⁷ which addressed the recommendation of the *Working Party on Gifted Education*. These initiatives included:
 - the clear identification of gifted and talented students in the NAGs;
 - a contestable funding pool for the development of innovative educational programmes targeted at gifted and talented students;
 - professional development initiatives, including additional Gifted Education Advisors and a National Coordinator, professional development for educational professionals other than teachers, and pre-service gifted education training;
 - a handbook for parents;
 - Information and Communication Technologies (ICT) initiatives to support gifted education; and
 - research on existing provision for gifted and talented students.
- After the inclusion of gifted and talented students in NAG 1 (iii)(c) in December 2003, the Ministry produced *Gifted and Talented Education in New Zealand Schools* in 2004.⁸ This was a summary of the current status of identification of and provision for gifted and talented students in New Zealand schools. The report concluded that there was:
 - a growing awareness of the need for provision for gifted and talented students;
 - a need for professional development, better access to resources and support, funding, time and cultural understanding;
 - a heavy reliance on teacher identification and standardised testing;
 - a lack of planned culturally appropriate programmes; and
 - minimal involvement by parents, caregivers, and whānau.
- In April 2008 the Ministry published *Nurturing Gifted and Talented Children, A Parent-Teacher Partnership*,⁹ which gives parents helpful information about giftedness and talent, and suggests ways parents and teachers can work in partnership to support the learning of gifted and talented children.

- 5 Te Kete Ipurangi is a bilingual portal-plus web community that provides quality assured educational material for New Zealand teachers, school managers, and the wider education community. It is an initiative of the Ministry of Education. See http://www.tki.org.nz/e/ community/gifted/
- 6 See http://www.tki.org. nz/r/gifted/pedagogy/ providers_e.php
- 7 Office of the Minister of Education. (2002) *Initiatives for Gifted and Talented Learners.* Wellington: Office of the Minister of Education.
- 8 Riley T. et al. (2004) *Gifted and Talented Education in New Zealand Schools.* Wellington: Ministry of Education. See http:// www.educationcounts. govt.nz/publications/ assessment/5451 for the full research report.
- 9 Ministry of Education. (2008) Nurturing Gifted and Talented Children, A Parent-Teacher Partnership. Wellington: Ministry of Education.

CHARACTERISTICS OF EFFECTIVE PROVISION

The current starting point for many New Zealand schools in their provision for gifted and talented students is the Ministry of Education's publication, *Gifted and Talented Students: Meeting Their Needs in New Zealand Schools*. This resource provides guidance on developing a school-wide approach for defining and identifying gifted and talented students, as well as developing programmes and evaluating them.

Policy development

An effective GATE policy is developed in consultation with the school community, identifying the rationale, definitions, a coordinator/team responsible, goals and objectives, professional development, style of provision and delivery, and an action plan to coordinate development.

Professional development

In an effective gifted and talented programme, teachers are aware of:

- concepts of giftedness and talent and the associated behaviours;
- identification methods;
- programme options and curriculum differentiation;
- teaching methods and resources; and
- special populations within gifted and talented, for example class, culture/ethnicity, and disability.

Definitions and characteristics

Effective gifted and talented programme definitions:

- are multi-categorical;
- are multi-cultural;
- recognise multiple intelligences; and
- recognise potential and demonstrated giftedness and talent.

Teachers are able to appropriately identify gifted and talented students. They are aware of and recognise the diversity of characteristics and behaviours for gifted and talented students, including ways of learning, creative thinking, motivation, social leadership, and self-determination.

Identification processes

An effective identification process has the following characteristics:

- it is consistent with the school's definition and programmes;
- it is school-wide, undertaken early, and ongoing;

- it is communicated openly between parents, students, teachers and the board of trustees;
- it has a multi-method approach; and
- it makes provisions to identify special groups, including Māori, students from other cultures/ethnicities, students with learning difficulties or disabilities, underachievers, and those from low socio-economic backgrounds.

Programme development

Effective teaching methods and practice aim to support gifted and talented students to achieve their potential. There are four primary areas of differentiation:

- content concepts, information, ideas and facts;
- process presentation, activities, teaching methods;
- product tangible and intangible results of learning;
- environment mobility, creativity, risk taking, challenge.

Effective schools and teachers consider the appropriateness and value of:

- the learning environment;
- enrichment and acceleration;
- the regular classroom programme and external programmes;
- cultural considerations; and
- the development of the curriculum.

Evaluation

Effective evaluation of gifted and talented programmes is systematic and comprehensive. It is both formative and summative and findings are used to inform the ongoing nature of the programme.

ERO'S EVALUATION FRAMEWORK

ERO evaluated the quality of provision for gifted and talented students in 315 schools reviewed in Terms 3 and 4, 2007. Of the schools reviewed, 261 were primary schools, and 54 were secondary schools.

ERO gathered and analysed information from schools in response to the following evaluation questions:¹⁰

- How well does the school leadership support the achievement of gifted and talented students?
- How inclusive and appropriate are the school's processes for defining and identifying giftedness and talent?
- How effective is the school's provision for gifted and talented students?

10 See Appendix Three: Self-review questions and indicators for your school for the indicators of high quality practice used by review officers.

- How well does the school review the effectiveness of their provision for gifted and talented students?
- To what extent do gifted and talented programmes promote positive outcomes for gifted and talented students?

Review officers made evaluative judgements based on the evidence found for indicators of good quality provision for gifted and talented students for each of these key evaluation questions.

FINDINGS

Findings

This section presents ERO's findings based on the key evaluative questions and from schools' self-reporting. For each evaluative question, the findings present information about the strengths and challenges for schools in providing for gifted and talented students. Examples of evaluative comments from review officers are included to give further information about these strengths and challenges, as is some school self-reported information. These comments are italicised and shaded. The statistics for each question and indicator of good practice are included in *Appendix Four: Evaluation Statistics*.

SCHOOL LEADERSHIP

What did ERO ask?

How well does the school leadership support the achievement of gifted and talented students?

Why did ERO ask this question?

Gifted and talented students' achievement and progress is likely to be enhanced if schools make effective decisions, and organise people and resources to implement appropriate educational programmes. Embedding the provision for gifted and talented students in school policies and practice makes it sustainable rather than tenuous.

Indicators of good practice

To evaluate how well school leadership supported the achievement of gifted and talented students ERO looked for evidence that:

- the provision of gifted and talented education was embedded in school culture and practice;
- there was a school-wide shared understanding about gifted and talented education;
- there was regular communication, consultation, and collaboration amongst all members of the school community, including staff, parents, whānau, students, and the wider community;¹¹
- the school had good quality policies, procedures or plans for gifted and talented education;
- there was leadership for the provision of gifted and talented education, for example principal, designated coordinator or team;
- the school was building capability through a planned approach to school-wide and ongoing professional development and performance management; and
- gifted and talented education was well resourced through informed decision-making about staffing, funding, and programmes.

11 A school's community may include: school personnel including teachers and support staff, parents, students, whānau, the Māori community, other ethnic communities represented on the school roll, health/ cultural/sport/arts/business groups, local iwi, and local and regional government. Schools should consider who it is appropriate to consult.

What ERO found

Figure 1 shows that school leadership for the provision of GATE was highly supportive or supportive in over half the schools (58 percent). In 42 percent of schools, leadership was either somewhat or not supportive of the provision of GATE.





Discussion

The following sections discuss the strengths and challenges for schools in supporting the achievement of gifted and talented information, in relation to each of the indicators of good practice.

Leadership of provision for gifted and talented students

Over half the schools had good leadership for the provision of gifted and talented education (GATE). Either a GATE coordinator or a GATE team was responsible for leading this provision in most of these schools. In the remaining schools, the principal or deputy principal usually took on the responsibility.

Successful leadership was characterised by enthusiasm and good organisational abilities. Leaders had support from the school's board of trustees, and senior management team. There were also good strategies for implementing GATE and adequate resourcing such as staffing, funding, space, and time. Where ERO found very good practice, designated coordinators and teams worked extensively with other staff. These leaders had strong knowledge of, and interest, skill, and passion for providing for gifted and talented students.

Two teachers worked as a team, coordinating and leading the school in providing for gifted and talented students. They had considerable experience working with gifted and talented students as well as participation in professional development initiatives over the years. They worked together in the past in an organisation catering for gifted and talented students. One of the coordinators was the deputy principal and, in that role, worked alongside individual teachers supporting them – including strategies and resources to cater for gifted and talented students.

The main challenge for this group of schools was sustaining momentum. Some schools had had experienced GATE leaders leaving the school, either permanently or temporarily. Even when good policies and procedures were in place, if a strong school-wide understanding was missing in the school and its community it was hard for the leaders to maintain good practices.

Schools varied in how effectively GATE was led. Some schools had a specific GATE coordinator or a GATE team responsible for leading this provision, and the remaining schools had no one responsible for GATE.

In some schools the GATE leader had been designated only recently, and the knowledge and skills of that person were not yet developed, or the school lacked well-conceived policies and procedures for the person to implement. This meant that any action taken was limited and there was inadequate support for other teachers wishing to implement GATE programmes. In some of these schools the departure of key staff had meant the loss of vital knowledge and skills.

Seven staff made up the gifted and talented team for the school. Of those seven, only two remain, with one being the principal. The challenge was to grow this capacity again and for this team to assume responsibilities for GATE.

Shared understanding and school culture

In some schools, the provision of GATE was embedded in school culture, and there was a school-wide, shared understanding of GATE. Good quality policies and strong expectations of teachers were established. The provision for gifted and talented students was included in the school's strategic direction. ERO found a tangible commitment amongst staff, and GATE was an intrinsic part of the school's culture. Most teachers had a full understanding of GATE and this was fostered through professional development and internal review of their provision.

The student centred nature of the school meant that the provision for gifted and talented students was intrinsic to the culture, and the learning and teaching practice in the school.

In most schools, the provision of GATE was not yet well embedded and school-wide understanding of GATE was limited. Teachers were just starting to think about the implications for their school. Providing for gifted and talented students had either not been a priority at the school, or there was a fragmented approach, evident only in some classrooms or learning areas.

In most of these schools, there was a need to build a greater conceptual understanding and common philosophy about GATE and its place in the regular classroom. In a few schools, there was a need to challenge teachers' predetermined expectations, for example, when student behaviour did not always match characteristics of gifted and talented students, or there was a much greater focus on students with special educational needs.

Policies, procedures and plans

About half the schools had good quality policies, procedures, or plans for GATE. These included a clearly documented philosophy, guidelines for teachers, a clear rationale and strategies for providing differentiated learning, appropriate emotional and social support, and action plans for implementing provision. There were principles and concepts guiding GATE, as well as documented school planning that was reviewed and implemented.

There were several challenges for these schools. Teachers needed ongoing support to implement strategies outlines in policies and procedures, particularly differentiated teaching in the classroom. School policies lacked a focus on personalising learning for individual gifted and talented students preferring to match them to existing programmes.

The other half of the schools lacked good quality policies, procedures, or plans for GATE. Many had no policy for providing for gifted and talented students, or policy was either outdated or not used. There was often a lack of commitment from the school leadership to implement policies. Some schools that had a policy relied on one that had been developed by a local cluster group, and this did not reflect their particular school situation. Other policies were simply an act of compliance with the NAG, and the school's policies did not match what was actually happening in practice.

Professional development

Some schools were building capability through a planned approach to professional development about GATE. Professional development included topics on identification, differentiation, pedagogy, inquiry-based and cooperative learning, social and emotional needs, and how learning difficulties may mask giftedness. Gifted and talented coordinators and/or teams participated in ongoing professional development, often working closely with external advisers, and undertaking tertiary level courses specialising in GATE. They disseminated this additional learning to their colleagues. Teachers at almost two-thirds of these schools had participated in school-wide professional development, and many new staff benefited from prompt induction about the school's GATE expectations. At schools where ERO found very good practice, the school leadership set a clear direction about building teacher capability to meet the needs of gifted and talented students in the classroom programme.

Teachers have been involved in professional development initiatives that have the potential to benefit gifted and talented students: training in ICT; gifted and talented education; thinking skills; integrated curriculum; learning pathway model; and higher order questioning. The gifted and talented contract was with an external facilitator, funded by the board, who worked with staff to increase their understanding of the nature of what being gifted and talented entailed and build their capability to identify gifted and talented students. This professional development also helped senior managers to compile the gifted and talented policy and guidelines. Lead teachers from this Ministry of Education training contract received ongoing professional development.

The main challenge facing these schools was staff turnover and keeping all teachers' skills updated. This highlighted the need for ongoing professional development in GATE in the face of competing professional development priorities. Even with professional development, staff needed to have confidence and guidance to implement new strategies in the classroom, and to take risks in identifying gifted students with learning difficulties or who were not demonstrating their potential.

Many schools did not take a planned approach to building capability through professional development in gifted and talented education. Most of these schools had prioritised other professional development that used teacher release time and funding. A third had not undertaken any gifted and talented professional development, and said that to provide school-wide professional development was a huge challenge. While a very few of these schools had offered professional development in GATE to all teachers, they had found it a challenge to maintain any ongoing training. When teachers with expertise left the school this created a knowledge gap.

GATE coordinators or teams in some of these schools had undertaken relevant professional development, but often this was not disseminated to the rest of the teachers, and consequently not embedded in teaching practice.

Provisions for gifted and talented students were largely informal. The next step was to formalise this process by developing a plan for school-wide and ongoing professional development. This particularly needed to be done to increase teacher skills and knowledge to provide for students' diverse learning needs with their class programmes.

Informed decision-making

At some schools, GATE was well resourced through informed decision-making about staffing, funding, and programmes. Provision for gifted and talented students was prioritised in school planning, and the board tagged funding for resourcing. Some

of these schools also made good use of Ministry of Education funding such as the Education Development Initiative, Extending High Standards Across Schools, and GATE contracts. As well as providing space for out-of-classroom provision, funding was used to release teachers for professional development, to resource specialist programmes, and to employ specialist teachers and teacher aides. Decisions to direct resources to GATE were made on the basis of well-informed debate and discussion.

In the past, specialist staff ran withdrawal programmes. However, as a result of professional development and discussion with staff we rearranged the timetable and made provision through release time and cover for other staff members with particular strengths to run these out-of-class programmes. The curriculum areas involved covered any budget requirements. (Self reported)

Specialist teachers, who were not timetabled to teach their specialist programme, released class teachers so they could facilitate withdrawal programmes. Class teachers were also released to coach at sport events and Super Art events. The coordinator held a non-teaching position. Space was used as it was available when a specialist or class teacher was not in a particular teaching space, staffroom, or learning support room. A specific budget supported gifted and talented learning programmes: the purchase of equipment, materials, payment of fees, registrations and entry fees, and books to support teachers. (Self reported)

However, the ongoing resourcing of gifted and talented provision was a constant challenge for these schools. For small or rural schools there was the challenge of finding specialists to run out-of-class programmes. The challenge for schools who had benefited from Ministry of Education funding was to sustain their programmes through their operational funding or through sponsorship.

In most schools, decisions made on GATE resourcing (staffing, funding, and programmes) were not well informed. At many of these schools there was no specific budget for gifted and talented provision, and only a few schools allocated management units and time allowances specifically for GATE. Some funding was directed towards providing for those gifted in sports or for students to attend off-site programmes. For other schools, there was a tension in terms of the availability of time to instigate effective programmes, particularly where teacher release time was necessary. However, some schools saw no need to resource gifted and talented provision, reflecting little understanding of their responsibilities to NAG 1 (iii)(c).

Communication, consultation and collaboration

Some schools regularly communicated, consulted, and collaborated with all members of the school community, including staff, parents, whānau, students, and the wider community about their provisions for gifted and talented students. Gifted and talented coordinators and teams disseminated information not only to teaching staff, but also to their wider school community. They held individual conversations with parents of gifted and talented students, published newsletters and pānui to all parents, reported regularly to the board of trustees, and made good use of parents and experts in the community. Where ERO found very good practice, staff responsible for gifted and talented education were committed to educating parents about GATE, for example, by holding parent information evenings.

Consultation was multi-faceted. Parents had had the opportunity to participate in a review of the gifted and talented policy. The school communicated through portfolio entries, displays around the school, letters to parents, interview between parents and the gifted and talented coordinator. Other opportunities for sharing what was happening around the school included parent involvement with programmes, regular shows and presentations, and celebrating achievement and success through newsletters and the school website.

There were two main challenges for these schools when it came to communicating with their parent community: communicating the school's particular philosophy about GATE; and consulting parents from diverse cultures.

The challenges for school leadership revolved around the tension between providing in-class support and out-of-classroom extension programmes.

The challenge was consultation with parents/whānau about GATE in this growing multi-cultural school so that relevant aspects of students' cultures and thinking were valued and reflected in provisions for gifted and talented students.

The majority of schools did not communicate, consult, or collaborate on GATE with all members of their school community. At many of these schools, consultation was limited to the teachers and parents of identified gifted and talented students. However, even the parents consulted wanted to be more actively involved, and it was clear that there was a lack of consultation with different groups in the community, for example, Māori whānau and/or Pacific parents, to discover and incorporate their concepts of giftedness. At other schools there was no communication with parents or others in the school community. School leaders and board members lacked the skills or desire to consult or elicit

responses from a variety of parents. At schools where gifted and talented provision was in place, students were not consulted about programmes that were being implemented.

The deputy principal did not see the value in wider community consultation when reviewing policy, practice or procedures for GATE.

Although there was a shared staff view of what gifted and talented meant, there hadn't been consultation with the school community about what gifted and talented meant to parents and whānau.

Key findings

Schools with supportive school leadership for GATE:

- had a designated GATE coordinator or team, supported by a dedicated principal, senior management team, and board of trustees; and
- had developed a school-wide understanding of GATE through well-developed policies and procedures, and relevant staff professional development.

The majority of schools:

- did not have a shared understanding of GATE;
- had not participated in appropriate professional development; and
- resourcing for GATE was not well informed or planned.

For almost all schools, the main challenges were:

- regularly communicating, consulting, and collaborating with all members of the school community; and
- competing priorities for professional development, resourcing, and teacher release time.

DEFINING AND IDENTIFYING GIFTEDNESS AND TALENT

What did ERO ask?

How inclusive and appropriate are the school's processes for defining and identifying giftedness and talent?

Why did ERO ask this question?

Gifted and talented students represent diverse ethnic backgrounds and ages, with a multiplicity of gifts and talents. Concepts of giftedness and talent vary across cultures. Schools' definitions and ways of identifying should reflect the beliefs, values, attitudes, and customs of the school community.

Indicators of good practice

To evaluate how inclusive and appropriate schools' processes were for defining and identifying giftedness ERO looked for evidence that:

• the school's definition of giftedness and talent:

- reflected the context and values of the school community;
- was multi-categorical;
- incorporated Māori concepts;
- incorporated multicultural concepts; and
- was grounded in sound research and theories.
- the school's identification process:
 - was multi-categorical;.
 - included Māori theories and knowledge;
 - included multi-culturally appropriate methods;
 - included both informal and formal identification;
 - included triangulation;
 - was early and timely;
 - was ongoing, covered transition points and ensured continuity; and
 - included potential and actual/demonstrated performance.
- students identified as gifted and talented reflected the diversity of the school population;
- policies and procedures had been developed in consultation with the wider school community; and
- there was regular communication, consultation and collaboration amongst all members of the school community.

What ERO found

Figure 2 shows that the definition of, and identification process for, gifted and talented students were highly inclusive and appropriate in only five percent of schools, with a further 40 percent being inclusive and appropriate. In 55 percent of schools, their definition and identification process was either somewhat, or not, inclusive and appropriate.



Figure 2: Inclusive and appropriate definition and identification

Discussion

The following sections discuss the strengths and challenges for schools in defining and identifying gifted and talented students, in relation to each of the indicators of good practice.

Definition

Context and values of school community

Definitions of giftedness and talents reflected the context and values of the school community in just under half the schools. The definition reflected the special character or philosophy of the school, and focused on providing an holistic education; one that reflected gifted and talented students' spiritual, physical and intellectual capabilities.

In the remaining schools, the context and values of the school community were not reflected in their definition of giftedness and talent. Some of these schools did not have a definition, but for those that did, there was often only a reference to a concept or theory and no practical application to their own school community. Teachers at these schools had yet to consider theory-based definitions in light of what these meant for their own school philosophy and community.

Multi-categorical definitions

Definitions in half the schools included recognition of the multi-categorical nature of giftedness and talent. These definitions were broad and inclusive, and reflected the schools' values. Behavioural and spiritual aspects were acknowledged, as was the possibility of gifted and talented students underachieving. In schools where ERO found very good practice, culturally-based gifts and talents were well defined.

In the remaining half of the schools, there was little or no recognition of multiple categories of giftedness and talent. While some recognised different types of gifts and talents, there was little acknowledgement of attributes, characteristics, or domains such as leadership or cultural abilities. Staff at many of these schools had not participated in professional development about gifted and talented education, and this limited their understanding of the need to be inclusive, and hence reflect this in their definition.

Incorporates Māori and multi-cultural concepts

Some schools incorporated Māori or multi-cultural concepts of giftedness and talents in their definition. Many of these schools had high proportions of Māori and/or non-Pākehā students on their roll, and their definition reflected the multi-cultural context of the school population. They had consulted the different ethnic groups in the school community about what they considered giftedness and talents meant in this context. In particular, to make sure their definition was inclusive and valued Māori and other groups' concepts of giftedness, they had drawn on the work of academic researchers such as Jill Bevan-Brown and Cecylia Rymarczyk Hyde.¹²

The majority of schools did not adequately take into account Māori or multi-cultural concepts in their definition of giftedness and talent. Most of these schools had not considered Māori or multi-cultural concepts of giftedness and had not established school-whānau networks to help them understand and incorporate these concepts. In some schools, Māori beliefs and perspectives were included in definitions, but there was little practical application of these in programmes or in strategies for delivery.

The policy included mention of Māori concepts, but the action to meet this was to have kapa haka at the school, which was for all students and an expected part of school life.

The rapidly increasing multi-cultural nature of the school's students and community was not reflected in what lay behind their definition. The teachers lacked an awareness of cultural diversity when identifying and providing for gifted and talented students.

Grounded in research and theories

Some schools grounded their definition in sound research and current theories about gifted and talented education. The starting point for many of these schools was Ministry of Education publications. However, they had moved further afield, exploring theories, for example, Gardner's theory of Multiple Intelligences, Renzulli's Three-Ring 12 See http://www.tki.org. nz/r/gifted/reading/theory/ maori-students_e.php for Rymarczyk Hyde's essay "Māori children with special abilities" and http:// education.massey.ac.nz/ massey/depart/education/ staff/cp/bevan-brown-jill.cfm for Bevan-Brown's recent publications.

Conception of Giftedness, and Gagné's Differentiated Model of Gifted and Talent.¹³ For some of these schools, it was still a challenge to ensure that all teachers were aware of, and understood, these theories and their practical implications.

Most schools did not base their definition on sound research and theories about giftedness and talent. Teachers at these schools did not have a broad understanding of current theories, and many had not moved beyond considering Ministry of Education publications. Often there had been little or no relevant professional development, and definitions had been borrowed from another school with little recognition of how these may or may not have reflected their own schools.

Identification

Multi-categorical process

Just under half the schools had an identification process that was multi-categorical. In these schools procedures were set up to identify a wide range of gifts and talents across multiple domains and dimensions – including sporting, leadership, creativity, visual and performing arts, academic, language, intellectual, thinking, ICT, spirituality, cultural specific, and social. Staff were open-minded about what constituted gifted and talented, and actual practice reflected this belief, for example, written procedures had been developed for identifying gifted and talented students.

The remaining schools were not able to identify students across multiple categories of giftedness and talent. If these schools had an identification process, it was often limited to one category such as academic, sporting, or arts. There was often a lack of underlying criteria to identify gifted and talented students, and if there were criteria, these were often not put into practice by teachers.

Inclusiveness of Māori and multi-cultural theories and methods

A few schools included Māori theories and knowledge (15 percent) or multi-culturally appropriate methods (12 percent) in their identification process. In most of these schools, staff had sought to increase their knowledge of what Māori and non-Pākehā ethnic groups in their school community perceived giftedness and talent to mean. Where ERO found very good practice, gifted and talented identification procedures were strongly inclusive of Māori and other cultural dimensions. Staff had consulted parents, whānau and the wider Māori and non-Pākehā community, using interpreters where appropriate, to actively involve these groups.

The identification process was developed to identify students that had a variety of abilities. More qualities of giftedness were identified as a result of meetings with Māori, Tongan and Samoan parents.

13 For example: Gardner H. (1993) Multiple Intelligence: The Theory in Practice New York: Basic Books. Renzulli J.S. (1978). What makes giftedness? Re-examining a definition Phi Delta Kappa, 60, 180–181. Gagné F. (1996). A thoughtful look at the concept of talent development. Tempo: The Journal of the Texas Association for Gifted and Talented. 5–10.

> See http://www.tki.org.nz/r/ gifted/reading/theory/index_ e.php for further gifted and talented related reading.

Almost all of the schools did not include Māori theories and knowledge or multi-culturally appropriate methods in their identification process. The challenge for these schools was to acknowledge and include Māori and multi-cultural themes, knowledge, understanding and values relating to giftedness and talent in their school practices. Many of these schools had not met with parents and whānau of their Māori and other non-Pākehā students to develop a broader understanding of concepts about gifts and talents beyond, for example, kapa haka, dance, and music. A consequence of this lack of action was an under-representation of Māori and other non-Pākehā students on their school-wide gifted and talented registers.

Formal and informal identification, triangulation, potential and demonstrated Some schools drew on both formal and informal methods of identification, made decisions based on multiple sources (triangulation), rather than just one or two methods, and included both potential and actual or demonstrated performance in a gift or talent.

Formal and informal methods included:

- teacher checklists of characteristics;
- observation by teachers;
- standardised testing and other teacher-made assessment;
- use of portfolios;
- use of previous school information;
- parent nomination;
- peer nomination; and
- self nomination (for example using self awareness forms).

These methods were written into procedures for all teachers to follow. Staff used a variety of ways of identifying students to create an holistic picture of a student's possible gifts and talents. This multiple-method approach also helped teachers to identify both potential and demonstrated gifts and talents. Teachers were encouraged to look beyond the obvious and consider students with learning difficulties or those who were not achieving to expected levels. However, responsiveness to parent and student input remained a challenge for these schools.

Most schools did not use either formal or informal methods, failed to triangulate findings, and did not consider both potential and demonstrated performance when making a decision about giftedness and talents. Many of this group of schools had not established any formal school-wide processes to identify gifted and talented students. Others were beginning to formalise processes, but lacked consistency across teacher practice.

The main methods of identification used were standardised testing in literacy and mathematics, and teachers' own professional judgement. A dependence on testing as a means of identification did not allow for the recognition of potential, particularly for ESL,¹⁴ uncooperative, uninterested, or underachieving students. Teachers' professional judgement was often hindered by a lack of professional development to further their understanding of giftedness and talent. There was little parent or student input into identification and, at schools where this was apparent, it was very informal and not practised across the school.

The school was increasing opportunities for parent/whānau referral. However the input from parents was limited. Other than a discussion at the time students enrolled, parent nominations were not sought. Including student referral had not been considered.

Early and ongoing identification

Some schools had a process that enabled gifted and talented students to be identified early in their time at the school that ensured continuity and coverage at transition points, such as entry into and exit from the school. Teachers followed processes, which helped make sure that they thought about the identification of gifted and talented students throughout the school year, and in all year levels at the school. Gifted and talented coordinators at primary schools worked, in particular, with teachers of Year 1 and 2 students to make sure they were knowledgeable about identifying gifted and talented students. Tracking of gifted and talented students on registers from one year to the next and during transitions between early childhood services and schools ensured a continuity of understanding about individual student needs and strategies to support them. However, ERO found that many of these schools were still reluctant to value other educational institutions' knowledge and judgement.

In Term 1 each teacher completed a gifted and talented identification form using an initial checklist, and then six weeks later a more in depth check of those students who featured strongly on the initial checklist. This time lag was so teachers were more familiar with their students' capabilities, their personalities and attitudes to work and social interactions.

Most schools were not identifying gifted and talented students early enough in their time at the school, nor were they doing so on an ongoing basis. Similarly, these schools were also not ensuring continuity and coverage of transition points. The main challenges were having processes to identify gifted and talented students early on in their time at the

14 Students for who English is a second language.

school and, in primary schools, to identify gifted and talented students in Years 1 and 2. Many of these schools lacked links with early childhood services and other schools to gather (and pass on) existing knowledge about gifted and talented students. A lack of professional development hindered teachers of Year 1 and 2 students from being able to identify their students as gifted and talented – the school relied on standardised testing rather than multiple methods such as also using teacher observation and checklists of behavioural characteristics.

Reflecting diversity in identification

Identified gifted and talented students reflected the diversity of the school population at just under half the schools. This diversity included ethnicity, year levels, gender, and curriculum areas. Even where schools were largely mono-cultural, Māori, Pacific and Asian students, for example, were identified as gifted and talented. In schools where ERO found very good practice, there was also a good mix of identified students who were underachieving, excelling, or with learning or behavioural difficulties.

In just over half the schools, students identified as gifted and talented did not reflect the diversity of the school population. At these schools definitions were limited to academic domains, for example, or were not developed in consultation with all parts of the school community.

Policies and procedures, and communication, consultation, and collaboration A few schools regularly communicated, consulted, and collaborated with all members of the school community about identification and the development of policies and procedures outlining these processes. For these schools, policies and procedures reflected the attributes valued by their community, and there was a shared understanding about provision for gifted and talented students. School leadership was strong and staff were involved in ongoing discussions and development. Where ERO found very good practice, schools had helped parents and whānau build their knowledge about what gifted and talented education meant. Some had used interpreters from the community to communicate better with parents from non-English speaking backgrounds.

There was good provision for consulting the community and this was being successfully extended. For example there was significant provision for different ethnic groups with interpreters and support for attending meetings to facilitate communication with Samoan and Afghani parents.

Most schools did not regularly communicate, consult, or collaborate with all members of the school community about identification and the development of policies and procedures outlining these processes. As a result, any definition or identification processes did not reflect the perspectives, aspirations and values of the community.

Parents and whānau of gifted and talented students were unaware of how the school might be providing for their children, and there were no opportunities for them to increase their understanding of what it meant to be gifted and talented.

At some of these schools, communication and consultation with parents, whānau and the wider school community needed to be strengthened, particularly with early childhood services and other schools' students were transitioning to and from. Of particular concern was the need to strengthen communication with the parents and whānau of Māori, Pacific, and other ethnic groups. There was little formalising or recording of any communication with parents, and schools were unsure of the nature and impact of consultation.

Key findings

Schools with inclusive and appropriate definitions and identification processes:

- had multi-categorical definitions that reflected the diversity of their community;
- had a variety of ways of identifying gifted and talented students; and
- sought and included information from previous educational institutions.

For almost all schools, the main challenges were:

- developing and putting into practice inclusive and appropriate definitions and identification processes for gifted and talented students;
- communicating with all members of the school community to develop policies and procedures; and
- reflecting Māori and multi-cultural concepts in their definitions and identifications processes.

SCHOOLS' PROGRAMMES AND PROVISION FOR GIFTED AND TALENTED STUDENTS

What did ERO ask?

How effective is the school's provision for gifted and talented students?

Why did ERO ask this?

The development of programmes and provision for gifted and talented students that are tailored to individual students' gifts and talents is crucial. Differentiation in the classroom, and provision beyond the regular classroom, must include content, process, and product changes to be meaningful.

Indicators of good practice

In evaluating how effectively schools provided for gifted and talented students ERO looked for evidence that:

- there was school-wide coordination of programmes and provision;
- programmes and provision had been developed in consultation with the wider school community as appropriate;
- programmes and provision were provided across the curriculum as appropriate;
- programmes and provision were provided across all areas of giftedness and talent as appropriate;
- regular classroom programmes were differentiated for content, process, and product;¹⁵
- beyond the regular classroom programmes were planned, monitored, evaluated, and reported;
- off-site programmes were planned, monitored, evaluated, and reported;
- programmes beyond the regular classroom and off-site had links to the regular classroom programme;
- a range of assessment information demonstrated the achievement and progress of gifted and talented students;
- programmes were inclusive of Māori values, tikanga, and pedagogy; and
- the provision of gifted and talented education was school-wide.

What ERO found

Figure 3 shows that programmes and provision for gifted and talented students were highly responsive and appropriate in only five percent of schools, with a further 37 percent being responsive and appropriate. In 58 percent of schools, programmes and provision were either somewhat, or not, responsive and appropriate.





15 See pp 36–37 of the Ministry of Education's Gifted and Talented Students, Meeting Their Needs in New Zealand Schools for an explanation of these concepts.

School-wide coordination and provision

At almost half the schools there was school-wide coordination and provision of gifted and talented education. At these schools, there was a capable coordinator or team who ensured that policies were implemented across all year levels of the school. These staff met regularly as a team, or with all staff to discuss the needs of gifted and talented students and their progress. Good practice was characterised by strong coordination of in-class and out-of-class programmes. School leadership promoted a shared understanding of, and responsibility for, gifted and talented education, particularly through professional development. Coordinators provided useful examples of practice to teaching staff, by modelling and observing differentiated teaching programmes.

The coordinator was active in promoting good practice across the school. She communicated effectively with class teachers about their children, and about students coming into and out of the programmes. She linked her withdrawal programmes to the concept-based curriculum planning the staff use throughout the school.

Just over half the schools were yet to develop a systematic shared, and coordinated approach to their provision. Some schools did not have a person responsible for gifted and talented students, and others lacked policies and procedures to guide teachers' work. At many of these schools there had either been no professional development related to gifted and talented education, or where there had been, teachers had not developed a shared understanding of GATE.

Classroom teachers lacked a coordinated approach to providing for gifted and talented students. While some schools were adopting an approach to classroom programmes based on inquiry learning and thinking skills, this was not enough to meet the needs of gifted and talented students throughout the school. Where there was provision for gifted and talented students, this was often limited to particular year levels (usually Years 4 to 10) or particular departments in secondary schools.

Consultation with wider school community

Some schools had developed programmes and provision in consultation with their wider school community. There was open communication with parents, whānau, and the community as appropriate. This meant the opportunities for gifted and talented students reflected the aspirations of the school community and resources and expertise available in the community.

Opportunities for gifted and talented students reflected community aspirations. For example, a group of students worked with a film company to make an educational movie for schools on saving dolphins. Also a group of students worked closely with the Department of Conservation on the Learnz project answering questions online from other schools about a local marine reserve.

There were challenges for this group of schools. Students' contribution to their own learning programmes was an area for improvement, as was establishing better links with other educational institutions, such as early childhood services and other schools. Some schools had difficulty in finding experts in the community to help with their out-of-class provision for gifted and talented students.

Most schools had not consulted their school community about gifted and talented programmes and provision. While some of these schools had responded to individual parent requests, there was no coordinated approach to consulting the wider school community, and therefore school personnel were not making the best use of expertise in the community, nor were they aware of parents' aspirations so they could develop appropriate programmes. At most of these schools, consultation was inhibited by a lack of school-wide teacher knowledge about gifted and talented education. This made it difficult for teachers to consult with parents in a well-informed manner.

Cross-curriculum and gifts and talents

Some schools provided gifted and talented programmes across the curriculum, or across most or all areas of giftedness and talent, as appropriate for their students. These schools had provision both in- and out-of-class, based on identified needs of gifted and talented students. The expectations for this were clear and teachers acted on planning to meet the needs of gifted and talented students across the curriculum. Where ERO found very good practice, programmes were designed to meet the needs of all year levels at the school. An extensive register was kept to ensure that appropriate programmes were offered.

This group of schools faced challenges in providing for all types of gifts and talents, and across curriculum areas. The curriculum areas covered by these schools included, but was not limited to:

- performing and visual arts;
- English literacy, writing;
- ICT;
- thinking;
- creativity;
- languages;

- leadership;
- mathematics/numeracy;
- science;
- physical education; and
- social intra- and inter-personal skills.

The rural college was an initiative that was introduced, funded and run by community members. Students of all abilities could apply to enter the college at Year 11. They studied level 2 unit and achievement standards and engaged in practical components at the agricultural training centre. Gifted students could go on and study at higher levels and at university. The local farmers endorsed this programme as it provided a good source of farmers' labour and expertise.

The gifted and talented education team identified students with writing giftedness through the use of the school's identification tool. There had been some discussion from a parent meeting that highlighted an interest in providing for students with particular literacy skills.

A group of students was brought together weekly from across the regular classes to prepare, contribute, and present a school newspaper. This was circulated across the school and in the local community. Publication was valued as a skill worth pursuing so quality, not quantity determined the number of completed publications. Each publication provided new challenges for the students as roles regularly changed. It was expected that students understood, in some detail, the roles and responsibilities of reporters, photographers, graphic artists and others in preparing a newspaper. Sustainability was built into the programme with staff professional development on effective questioning. All staff were encouraged to ask searching, challenging questions using a school-wide thinking tool.

The principal initiated the establishment of cultural ambassadors in the school (for example, Māori, Samoan, Afghani students). Nominated students took a key role in welcoming visitors in their first language and in supporting students from their culture in the school. This provided good opportunities for extending leadership skills and for 'cultural affirmation.'

Most schools did not provide programmes that matched the gifts and talents of their students or, where appropriate, across a variety of curriculum areas. Most of these schools were only providing for academically gifted students. A small number of schools had no provision at all.

In primary schools, provision was predominantly in reading, writing and mathematics, and at secondary level, in English, mathematics and science. At primary level, there was often cross grouping in or across classes based on ability. This partially met the needs of those gifted in literacy and numeracy. At secondary level, core subjects were often streamed or banded and this went some way to meeting the needs of academically gifted students. Some schools also had an arts or sports focus that, although not targeted specifically at gifted and talented students, was partially meeting the needs of these students.

The challenge for these schools was to move beyond acceleration and to undertake assessment early. More importantly, schools needed to broaden the scope of their provision to acknowledge and provide for non-academic gifted and talented students. An additional challenge for secondary schools was to move from a departmental approach to cross-curricular provision to suit multi-talented students. A lack of systematic ways to define and identify gifted and talented students and a lack of staff knowledge about gifted and talented education often hindered these schools.

Differentiation for content, process, and product

Differentiating classroom programmes for content, process, product includes:

- what is taught or learned the concepts, information, ideas, and facts within the curriculum;
- how the content is taught or learnt how new material is presented, what activities students are involved in, and what teaching methods are used; and
- how learning is shown by gifted and talented students tangible or intangible results of learning, real solutions to real problems.¹⁶

Almost half the schools differentiated regular classroom programmes for content, process, and product. Teachers used a range of strategies to differentiate programmes including:

- problem solving;
- thinking and questioning skills;
- inquiry learning;
- ability grouping;
- multi-level tasks;
- use of ICT;
- individual challenges or projects for social studies, science, health and technology;
- open-ended learning centres and investigations;
- critical and creative thinking;

16 Ministry of Education. (2000) *Gifted and Talented Students: Meeting their Needs in New Zealand Schools*, p36. Wellington: Ministry of Education.

- increasing the pace of learning;
- clearly expressed expectations for outcomes; and
- opportunities for leadership and responsibility.

Teachers participated in professional development about differentiated programmes, and in syndicate or departmental discussions on how to provide for gifted and talented students in the classroom. There was an understanding that every teacher was a teacher of the gifted and talented, and that the needs of these students had to be met initially in the regular classroom.

There was little or no differentiation of classroom programmes in over half the schools. While at some of these schools, professional development in AToL¹⁷ and inquiry learning was helping teachers to begin to differentiate programmes, the outcomes were variable and/or limited, and there was little in programmes to challenge or provoke student thinking. In some primary schools, there was a belief that cross-grouping for literacy and mathematics was sufficient to meet the needs of gifted and talented students. Similarly, gifted and talented students were provided with "more of the same" rather than differentiated content, process and product. Gifted and talented students expressed dissatisfaction, boredom and frustration at the lack of challenge in their classroom programmes.

Beyond the regular classroom programmes

Some of the schools provided programmes for gifted and talented students beyond the regular classroom and off-site, and planned, monitored, evaluated, and reported on this. A similar number of schools linked these programmes back to the regular classroom programme.

Effective school-based programmes beyond the regular classroom were planned in such a way as to meet identified needs, and had clear rationale and success criteria for student learning and progress. The planned learning and success criteria were reported to classroom teachers to help ensure continuity. These programmes included lunchtime sessions or special courses such as future problem solving, technology challenges, ICT, enviro-schools, and journalism.

17 The Assess to Learn (AToL) programme offers in-depth professional learning for teachers and school managers in the use of assessment for learning principles.

A learning conference on local sustainability was initiated, planned and managed by Year 9 and 10 gifted and talented students. Students invited and thanked guest speakers and parents. Panel discussions were held to debate issues. There were very positive outcomes in terms of information and processing. The one-day conference provided opportunities for planning and managing that really challenged students – many described it as the best thing they had done at school.

The school ran a Philosophy for Children (P4C) critical thinking and problem solving programme that built children's competencies, skills, and attitudes in a learning community. Children were formally reflecting on the skills they learnt in the programme.

Off-site programmes available to gifted and talented students at these schools were for the most part well planned, monitored and evaluated, and provided opportunities for students to pursue their individual interests and passions. These included provisions such as Te Manu Aute programme in performing and visual arts, the Gifted Kids Programme (GKP) and One Day Schools (ODS), regional, national and international competitions and challenges, courses available through The Correspondence School, leadership conferences, dance and art festivals, and special training or tuition.

Generally, in these schools, there were good links between the programmes and what was happening in the regular classroom. This was strongly associated with teachers participating in gifted and talented professional development that raised their awareness of the ongoing needs of gifted and talented students. However, some of these schools still needed to develop stronger links and improve communication, particularly with ODS and the GKP, to ensure that learning experiences were more meaningful for gifted and talented students.

Two other areas of challenge for these schools were reporting to the board and the community about the value of off-site programmes, and the sourcing of experts from the community to meet the needs of students with culturally-based gifts such as visual and performing arts.

Most schools that had provision for gifted and talented students, beyond the regular classroom and off-site, did not plan, monitor, evaluate, or report appropriately on this provision. Nor did they link it back to the regular classroom programme. In most cases, where students were participating in programmes beyond the regular classroom, few links were made with classroom programmes and, back in the regular environment,

skills learnt were not used or enhanced. There was a sense that students who attended ODS and the GKP were gifted and talented for one day only. There was little or no planning to meet their needs at any other time. Often these students were expected to do five days' worth of classwork in four days.

Assessment information

Some schools used a variety of assessment information to demonstrate the achievement and progress of gifted and talented students. Teachers made good use of achievement information across the curriculum as well as their professional judgement. This achievement information was comprehensive and used to identify next steps for learning for students, improve programmes, and report gifted and talented student achievement and progress to the board and community.

Challenges for these schools included finding ways to measure the impact of non-academic programmes on gifted and talented student achievement and progress, and improving the information received from ODS and the GKP so teachers could determine progress and the influence of attendance on the regular classroom programme.

Most schools did not use, or used only partially, a variety of assessment information to demonstrate gifted and talented students' achievement and progress. There was little use of learning intentions and success criteria to determine achievement and progress. At primary level, there was little collection of assessment information beyond literacy and numeracy, and at secondary level, the achievement of gifted and talented students who were not sitting NCEA¹⁸ standards was not well monitored. In addition to this there was little or no reporting of outcomes for gifted and talented students involved in programmes beyond the regular classroom.

Māori values, tikanga and pedagogy

In *Gifted and Talented: New Zealand Perspectives*, Jill Bevan-Brown outlines six factors pertinent to incorporating Māori values, tikanga and pedagogy into gifted and talented provision.¹⁹ These include:

- being open to group talent "kotahitanga" and providing opportunities for this talent to be nurtured and developed;
- providing broad opportunities for gifted and talented Māori students and considering abilities from a Māori perspective, for example, leadership by example or support;
- taking an holistic approach that is intertwined with Māori concepts of manaakitanga (kindness, hospitality and respect), aroha-ki-te-tangata (love of fellow person), whanaungatanga (familiness), wairua (spirituality), and āwhinatanga (helping, assisting);
- providing opportunities for gifts and talents to be used to benefit others;

- 18 National Certificates in Educational Achievement.
- 19 Bevan-Brown, J (2004). Gifted and talented Māori learners. In McAlpine D. & Moltzen R. (Eds.), Gifted and Talented: New Zealand Perspectives 2nd Ed. (pp171–198). Palmerston North: Kanuka Grove Press.
- providing opportunities to develop talents in a Māori relevant context; and
- using pedagogy such as cooperative, group, holistic, active and experiential teaching and learning, by providing mentors and role models, and meeting needs in the regular classroom so Māori gifted and talented are not isolated from their peers.

Programmes at only a few schools were inclusive of Māori values, tikanga, and pedagogy. At these schools there was strong support for students with gifts and talents in aspects of Māori culture. There was a strong focus on Māori tikanga, such as whanaungatanga, manaakitanga, and tuakana-teina. Opportunities were provided at school and marae for those with gifts and talents in te reo, ngā mahi-a-rehia,²⁰ and taiaha.²¹

On alternate Thursdays the students in the bilingual unit worked at the marae for the whole day. Gifted and talented students were promoted, valued, and given opportunities to use and grow their skills and talents in an authentic context, and to learn from elders that had good knowledge.

The school had culturally appropriate programmes in a culturally supportive environment. A broad range of talent was valued: academic, the arts, leadership, sporting prowess, Māori knowledge and understanding, service to the community, spiritual qualities, mana, pride in Māori identity, plus there was recognition that a group may be gifted.

At almost all schools, programmes for gifted and talented students did not include Māori values, tikanga, and pedagogy. Teachers at these schools lacked appropriate knowledge to identify gifted and talented Māori students or to provide programmes to meet their needs, particularly in areas valued by Māori. Many thought that they were meeting their particular needs by providing kapa haka and te reo, and by incorporating some aspects of tuakana-teina in their classroom programmes.

- 20 Nga mahi-a-rehia refers to Māori performing arts.
- 21 A taiaha is a wooden weapon designed to be used as a close quarters weapon for short sharp strikes or stabbing thrusts.

Key indicators

Schools with effective provision and programmes:

- began their provision in the regular classroom;
- provided challenge in the regular classroom; and
- developed next learning steps for gifted and talented students to promote and demonstrate achievement and progress.

The majority of schools:

• did not develop provision and programmes in consultation with the school community.

For almost all schools the main challenges were:

- including Māori values, tikanga, and pedagogy in their provision;
- planning, monitoring, evaluating, and reporting on programmes that were beyond the regular classroom and off-site; and
- linking programmes that were beyond the regular classroom and off-site back to the regular classroom programme.

SCHOOLS' REVIEW OF THEIR PROVISION FOR GIFTED AND TALENTED STUDENTS

What did ERO ask?

How well does the school review the effectiveness of their provision for gifted and talented students?

Why did ERO ask this question?

Effective self review allows schools to review how well their provision for gifted and talented students fits with their strengths, interests, and needs, and to make well-informed decisions about policy, resources, and teacher professional development.

Indicators of good practice

In evaluating how well schools reviewed the effectiveness of their provision for gifted and talented students ERO looked for evidence that:

- there was a systematic and ongoing process for evaluating the outcomes for students;
- the school shared and consulted about evaluation findings with staff, parents/whānau, students, and the community;
- the school acted on recommendations arising from evaluation; and
- the impact of programmes and provisions, both internal and external to the school, was evaluated.

What ERO found

Figure 4 shows that self review of the effectiveness of provisions for gifted and talented students was highly developed or developed in only 23 percent of schools. Self review practices were somewhat developed in almost a third of schools (31 percent), and not developed in nearly half of schools (46 percent).



Figure 4: Development of self review

Systematic and ongoing process

Some schools had a systematic and ongoing process for evaluating outcomes for gifted and talented students. Student participation in gifted and talented programmes was monitored, and outcomes were reviewed against the schools' intended outcomes for individual gifted and talented students. This monitoring not only included information about students' achievement and progress, but also attitudinal information obtained through surveys of students. An important part of this process was the use of review information to inform the school's strategic direction, in particular, desired outcomes

and resourcing of gifted and talented programmes. In schools where ERO found very good practice, there was a tiered system of review, often involving the curriculum team, the gifted and talented team, and the teachers.

Teachers engaged in ongoing assessment, reflection, and evaluation about the progress of each student in the classroom. Individual student outcomes were systematically considered. Teachers in charge of delivering special programmes targeted for gifted and talented students evaluate the effectiveness of individual programmes.

Most schools did not have a well-developed process for evaluating outcomes for gifted and talented students. The majority of these schools lacked policies and procedures to undertake a systematic school-wide review of gifted and talented provision. There was no or little focus on outcomes for gifted and talented students such as achievement, attitudes or behaviour. In some cases, individual teachers were left to evaluate outcomes, and many did not have the knowledge and skills to know how to do this well. In other cases, where there was some school-wide review of assessment data, any analysis of gifted and talented students as a sub-group was lacking.

In the other schools in this group, there was some informal discussion amongst syndicate or gifted and talented teams about the achievement and progress of gifted and talented students. However, this was mostly literacy and numeracy based in primary schools, and only in academic subjects in secondary schools. The challenge for these schools was to find ways to evaluate outcomes for students who were gifted or talented in non-academic areas, to move beyond anecdotal information, and to collect baseline data so they were able to make comparisons and show progress.

Consultation about evaluation

A few schools consulted staff, parents, whānau, students and the community about evaluation findings. At these schools there was an expectation that teachers would review their provision for gifted and talented students, in the classroom and other out-of-class programmes. These evaluations, and those at a school-wide level, included and/or were reported to students, parents, other teachers, the senior management team and the board. Many of these schools surveyed parents of gifted and talented students about provision, or met with them to review programmes, and used this information to inform future planning. For some of these schools, formalising student and parent input into evaluation and doing so on a regular basis remained a challenge.

Parents and students were given the opportunity to comment at the end of gifted and talented education programmes thus contributing to the school's overall evaluation of that specific programme. This process was well established and was used for each programme.

The board was positive about the gifted and talented programmes and knew that the parents valued them. Until recently the board had not thought that it would be worthwhile for them to share evaluations of these programmes with parents. However, they realised that to further resource the programmes parents needed to know the programmes' worth and value.

Very few schools were effective in sharing or consulting about any evaluation findings with staff, parents, whānau, students and the community. There was some annual reporting to the board by heads of department or gifted and talented teams, but this lacked a focus on student outcomes and, while informative, was not evaluative. Any reporting to parents and the community was often limited to publishing successes in competitions and events.

Students and parents were not generally involved in any review process. While some students participated in self-assessment processes, this was not focused on an evaluation of gifted and talented provision. Some students reported that they would feel uncomfortable about commenting negatively on programmes, indicating that student evaluation was not a normal and integral part of evaluation in the school. ERO found that in many of these schools, the senior management team and board did not share any evaluation with parents.

While parents may be pleased that their child is participating in gifted and talented programmes, they will also be able to help promote positive outcomes for their children if they are informed about the value of their evaluative contribution, and participate in evaluation of gifted and talented provision.

Acting on recommendations

Some schools acted on recommendations arising from evaluation of gifted and talented programmes and provision. These schools used evaluation findings to identify what worked well, areas for further development, and to identify foci for the next year based on student need. The needs of each upcoming year's cohort of gifted and talented students were reviewed to develop new opportunities and adapt current provisions. Boards used recommendations from evaluation as a basis for decision-making about resourcing and funding.

Most schools did not act on any recommendations that arose from evaluating gifted and talented programmes. These programmes were repeated from year to year with little use of student achievement and progress information to determine any changes needed. Decisions to continue programmes were based solely on student enjoyment. The challenge for these schools was to use findings from self review to inform the development and enhancement of gifted and talented programmes at a classroom and school-wide level.

Evaluation of impact of programmes and provision

A few schools evaluated the impact of programmes and provisions, both internal and external to the school. As well as review of classroom programmes, teachers and/or gifted and talented coordinators evaluated out-of-class provisions such as workshops, withdrawal programmes, and programmes such as ODS and the GKP. They looked at the success of students and feedback received from participating students, as well as from those responsible for the programmes, and compared this with expected outcomes for students. In this way, they were able to make sure that outcomes of programmes matched the needs of individual gifted and talented students, and could make recommendations about future provision. A challenge for these schools was to differentiate between the impact of out-of-class programmes and regular classroom programmes. This meant they were unable to determine the value of continuing out-of-class programmes or the need to adapt both types of programmes to suit their students.

Most schools did not evaluate effectively the impact of programmes and provisions for gifted and talented students, both internal and external to the school. Most of these schools were yet to review the impact of gifted and talented provision, or to extend self review beyond anecdotal information only. ERO found that any review was limited to classroom programmes in reading, writing, and mathematics, or anecdotal information about cultural and sporting gifts and talents. Some schools had information about out-of-class programmes, but this was limited and could not be compared to any measurable outcomes. The challenge for this group of schools was to develop measurable for out-of-class programmes.

Correlation between effective self review and responsive and appropriate programmes

ERO found a strong correlation between self review and the programmes and provision for gifted and talented students. The more developed a school's self-review process, the more responsive and appropriate programmes and provisions. This relationship was statistically significant.²² However, using schools' self-reported information, ERO also

22 The correlation between the effectiveness of self review and the responsiveness and appropriateness of programmes and provision was tested using a Spearman's rho test.

found that regardless of how effective self-review process were, over three-quarters of schools thought the majority of their programmes and provision for gifted and talented students were contributing significantly, or were contributing (but could be strengthened) to meeting the needs of gifted and talented students.

Key findings

Schools that had well developed self review of the effectiveness of their provision:

- could show that gifted and talented students were making progress and experiencing positive outcomes; and
- were more likely to get the support of the board and parents for ongoing provision.

Very few schools:

• had well developed self review of the effectiveness of their provision.

PROMOTING POSITIVE OUTCOMES FOR GIFTED AND TALENTED STUDENTS

What did ERO ask?

To what extent do gifted and talented programmes promote positive outcomes for gifted and talented students?

Why did ERO ask this question?

Being gifted and talented extends beyond the regular school day, and schools play an important part in working with students and their parents and whānau to ensure and support their social and emotional wellbeing, as well as celebrate their achievement and progress.

Indicators of good practice

In evaluating the extent to which gifted and talented programmes promoted positive outcomes for gifted and talented students ERO looked for evidence that:

- gifted and talented students enjoyed school;
- gifted and talented students received regular feedback on their achievement and progress;
- gifted and talented students were well supported;
- gifted and talented students' social and emotional wellbeing was nurtured through pastoral care;
- gifted and talented students were given opportunities and choice to use their gifts and talents to benefit other students and the wider community;
- gifted and talented students felt their gifts and talents were valued;
- focused communication between school, parents and whānau supported gifted and talented students' holistic wellbeing (cultural, spiritual, emotional, and social); and
- parents of gifted and talented students were informed and consulted by teachers about their child's achievement and progress.

What ERO found

Figure 5 shows that ERO found that 48 percent of schools were highly effective or effective in promoting positive outcomes for their gifted and talented students. The promotion of positive outcomes was only somewhat effective or not effective in just over half of schools (52 percent).



Figure 5: Promoting positive outcomes for gifted and talented students

Enjoyment of school

Gifted and talented students at about half the schools enjoyed school. These students enjoyed the opportunities given to them for leadership and responsibility, working with other like-minded students, and the ability to focus on a special talent. Students who participated in programmes such as cluster programmes, ODS, or the GKP, enjoyed getting to know and work with students from other schools who had similar strengths and interests.

Students spoken to in cluster classrooms were excited about the programmes they were involved in and felt that they were being challenged. Their teachers made learning interesting and fun.

In the remaining schools, gifted and talented students did not enjoy school. Some students said they were bored and not interested in school. Other students, identified as gifted and talented, while enjoying the opportunities they were given, felt that the programmes did not really meet their needs. At many of these schools, identification procedures were limited and there was a tendency to identify 'bright and compliant' students. Gifted and talented students with learning or behavioural difficulties were not identified, sometimes leading to increased off-task and disruptive behaviour among them.

Pastoral care

Just over half the schools nurtured social and emotional wellbeing of gifted and talented students through pastoral care. These schools had good systems in place for providing these students with mentors to promote personal growth and to develop social and emotional skills. Gifted and talented students were given opportunities to develop their self esteem and confidence through leadership, buddying, and tuakana-teina opportunities.

Mentoring was a significant feature of the gifted and talented education programme. The gifted and talented education coordinator considered mentoring of students to be an important part of her role. She also developed an extensive register of potential external mentors to assist students. Students expressed their appreciation of the contributions their mentors had made. Gifted and talented students told ERO that they enjoyed mentoring their peers when they were given opportunities to do this through leadership roles, role modelling, and classroom support.

In schools where ERO found very good practice, teachers had had extensive professional development to develop their awareness of the specific social and emotional needs of gifted and talented students.

Many of the schools had implemented effective programmes to prevent bullying. However, making sure that gifted and talented students were not singled out and subjected to 'tall poppy syndrome' remained a challenge for some of these schools. Some schools were also concerned that their emphasis on building self esteem and confidence was neglected when gifted and talented students moved on to the local secondary schools, as there was much less emphasis on these aspects of gifted and talented students' needs.

At just under half the schools, gifted and talented students' social and emotional wellbeing was not being nurtured through pastoral care. There was little recognition of the specific social and emotional needs of these students, and pastoral care was as for all students at the school. For example, there was little consideration of specific types of bullying of these students, or of balancing learning needs with social needs when students were moved into older age group classes for extension or acceleration.

Feedback and support to achieve

About half the schools were giving gifted and talented students regular feedback about their achievement and progress, and were supporting their achievements.

This feedback included timely in-class formative feedback, the use of learning journals and portfolios, and conferencing involving teachers, students, and parents. Students knew and understood teachers' expectations and the next steps for their learning. However, this was more likely to happen for specific learning areas, rather than for co-curricular programmes such as leadership or cultural programmes.

Teachers had high expectations for student achievement and they used effective teaching strategies to encourage gifted and talented students to be collaborative and support each other. Learning environments were well resourced and conducive to learning. Boards provided specialist teachers and paid for registration fees and transport costs if required.

There is an extensive range of effective teaching strategies and opportunities for gifted and talented students to realise their potential. The leadership team has a clear understanding of theory, research and practice around provision for gifted and talented education.

In schools where ERO found very good practice, gifted and talented students had individual learning goals and were given feedback about their achievement and progress regarding these goals, or about outcomes included in Individual Education Plans. At some of these schools, students were very involved in setting their own goals, as well as regularly reviewing progress towards achieving these goals and setting new ones.

Gifted and talented students were challenged in their classroom context, and were able to take risks, make mistakes, participate in higher thinking skills and in friendly competition. They were able to express a different viewpoint without fear of criticism. In these classrooms, learning and achievement were celebrated.

Students talked about the changes that had influenced their own attitude to schools. For example, knowing that working harder gives better results, having confidence in their own abilities, and taking opportunities to share and lead.

In the remaining schools, gifted and talented students were not well supported, nor did they get regular feedback about their achievement and progress.

Gifted and talented students at these schools received feedback similar to other students, but at some of these schools, processes for student feedback were poor overall. In addition to this, any feedback was limited to regular classroom programmes only, and not about any out-of-class provision. Some students who had been identified as gifted and talented were unsure of what their strengths were, nor were they given feedback about their achievement and progress. Other students said that if their gifts and talents were not academic then they were less likely to receive feedback about their progress.

While many gifted and talented students at these schools were in a positive classroom learning environment and their teachers used good teaching strategies, there was little specific support for the students. Gifted and talented students were given additional work rather than work that was differentiated for content, process, and product. Some students reported that their teachers were unaware of some of their gifts and talents. Others said they were bored and switched off in class, claiming that much had been promised by the school in the way of support, but had not been delivered.

Using and valuing gifts and talents

Gifted and talented students at just under half the schools felt that their gifts and talents were valued, and at a third of schools there were opportunities and choice for students to use their gifts and talents to benefit other students and the wider community.

Students felt that their gifts and talents were valued, fostered, and developed, and most importantly, they were not embarrassed about their achievements and successes being acknowledged publicly in assemblies, newsletters, shows, presentations, and demonstrations. The schools had developed a culture where it was acceptable to celebrate success and to share gifts and talents with others. Some of the ways that students shared their gifts and talents for the benefit of others included:

- environmental activities;
- peer teaching of ICT;
- leadership in kapa haka and powhiri;
- choreography for shows;
- newspaper, yearbook and video productions showcasing the school;
- designing fitness trails and playgrounds; and
- organising cultural, sporting, academic, and community activities for other students to participate in.

Year 13 kapa haka students tutored students in the South Island through video conference learning, as well as performing at wider community events.

The opportunities for students to use their gifts and talents to benefit others were a definite strength. Gifted and talented students organised and ran a Pet Day at the school, and organised the school's buddy reading programmes. Years 5 and 6 students prepared e-folios and presented these to their parents.

Students in Years 7 and 8 coached miniball – developing leadership skills. Year 8 students modelled leadership for the Year 7 students. The students used their talents in the wider community. They were involved in World Vision and Daffodil Day and the music group and choir performed in the community, for example, at the local rest home.

Another particular challenge that some schools faced was to identify ways in which to encourage gifted and talented Māori students to accept their gifts and talents as part of their identity, to be confident, and to raise their self esteem.

Many schools did not give gifted and talented students opportunities to use their gifts and talents to benefit other students and the wider community; and gifted and talented students at half the schools felt that their gifts and talents were not valued.

At most of these schools there was little or no evidence of gifted and talented students being encouraged to use their gifts and talents to benefit other students and the community, and students felt that this led to their gifts and talents being valued by some teachers but not by their fellow students. While, at some schools, some gifts and talents

were valued and shared, this was usually limited to sport, performing and visual arts, and some leadership opportunities such as student council and buddying systems. Many school leaders had not developed a school culture where it was acceptable to celebrate and share gifts and talents and some students were not comfortable at being singled out, stating that the attitudes of other students was off-putting, and that they were often bullied as a result of having their gifts and talents celebrated.

Communication between school and parents and whānau

Some schools undertook focused communication with parents and whānau to support gifted and talented students' holistic wellbeing.²³ Less than half informed parents about their gifted and talented child's achievement and progress.

School leadership and teachers implemented a variety of practices to foster holistic wellbeing and to promote learning partnerships between teachers, parents, whānau, and students. These practices helped parents and teachers to be knowledgeable about children's overall wellbeing and not just their achievement and progress. Parents and whānau were well informed about provisions for gifted and talented students, and about their child's involvement in programmes. Teachers and parents met as a group or individually to discuss and review provision. Teachers asked parents to provide information about their child, and to be involved in determining goals for their learning and holistic wellbeing.

Parents of gifted and talented students were well informed in their children's learning. They had ongoing opportunities for information and consultation through their participation in formulating and monitoring their children's individual education plans. There was strong focus on interest areas, achievements in and out of school, possible career goals, co-curricular involvement, progress in general learning skills and goal setting across the curriculum.

There were however some challenges for these schools. Parents still expressed a desire for greater involvement, of themselves and their child, both in the identification process and in evaluating provision, and for their child to have more choice about their learning in the classroom. Some parents also wanted the school to talk to them about how they could nurture their child's gifts and talents at home.

At most schools, there was little or no communication with parents about the holistic wellbeing of gifted and talented students, and over half did not inform parents about the achievement and progress of their child. At most of these schools, leaders and teachers had not communicated or engaged with parents, whānau, and the school community about gifted and talented students in particular. Rather, any communication about

23 Holistic wellbeing incorporates cultural, spiritual, emotional, and social wellbeing.

achievement, progress, or wellbeing was reported as with standard school practices, ignoring the particular challenges facing these students and their families. The main challenges for these schools were to foster discussions between school personnel, parents, and whānau about the cultural, spiritual, emotional, and social wellbeing of gifted and talented students; and for students to have more input into the direction or focus of their learning. ERO also found that parents at these schools often had negative perceptions about gifted and talented students (for example, tall poppy syndrome and thinking of gifted and talented students as 'nerds').

Key findings

Schools that promoted positive outcomes for gifted and talented students:

- valued, fostered and developed students' gifts and talents;
- nurtured the social and emotional wellbeing of gifted and talented students through good quality pastoral care; and
- fostered holistic wellbeing through involving parents, whānau and the community.

The majority of schools:

- were not able to demonstrate achievement and progress for many gifted and talented students;
- did not recognise the special social and emotional needs of gifted and talented students; and
- did not foster discussions between school personnel, parents and whānau about holistic wellbeing.

SCHOOLS' OVERALL PROVISION FOR GIFTED AND TALENTED STUDENTS

Schools' provision for gifted and talented students was reviewed against five key evaluation areas.

ERO found that 17 percent of schools had good provision across all five key evaluative areas. This included 18 percent of primary schools and 13 percent of secondary schools.

Forty-eight percent of schools had good provision in some areas, but not in others. This included 46 percent of primary schools, and 56 percent of secondary schools. Most of the schools in this group did not have well-developed self review of their gifted and talented provision.

Thirty-five percent of schools did not have good provision for gifted and talented students in any of the five evaluative areas. This included 36 percent of primary schools and 31 percent of secondary schools.

School differences

For each of the five evaluative questions, ERO compared overall effectiveness by school type, locality, and decile grouping. ERO also compared the provision in primary schools with that of secondary schools. Where there was a statistical difference in each of these groupings this is included below.²⁴

While ERO found no statistically significant differences between types of schools, there were differences by decile and locality. In general, high decile schools were more likely to have good quality provision for their gifted and talented students than low decile schools. Similarly, urban schools were more likely to have good quality provision for their gifted and talented students than rural schools. The following findings were statistically significant:

- High and medium decile schools were more likely than low decile schools to have supportive school leadership for the provision of gifted and talented education.
- Urban schools were more likely than rural schools to have supportive school leadership for the provision of gifted and talented education.
- High decile schools were more likely than medium and low decile schools to have appropriate and inclusive definitions and identification of gifted and talented students.
- Urban schools were more likely than rural schools to have appropriate and inclusive definitions and identification of gifted and talented students.
- High and medium decile schools were more likely than low decile schools to have responsive and appropriate provision and programmes for gifted and talented students.
- Urban schools were more likely than rural schools to have responsive and appropriate provision and programmes for gifted and talented students.
- High decile schools were more likely than low decile schools to have developed self review of their provision for gifted and talented students.
- Urban schools were more likely than rural schools to have developed self review of their provision for gifted and talented students.
- Primary schools were more likely than secondary schools to have developed self review of their provision for gifted and talented students.
- High decile schools were more likely than low decile schools to have effectively promoted positive outcomes for gifted and talented students.
- Urban schools were more likely than rural schools to have effectively promoted positive outcomes for gifted and talented students.

The most significant differences between high and low decile schools were in:

- all aspects of a supportive school leadership for GATE;
- all aspects of defining gifted and talented students, apart from incorporating Māori and multi-cultural concepts of giftedness and talent;
- 24 Differences in ratings between the types of schools were checked for statistical significance using a Kruskal-Wallis H test, as were differences in ratings between decile groupings. The differences in ratings between urban and rural schools (locality) were checked for statistical significance using a Mann Whitney U test, as were differences in ratings between primary and secondary schools. The level of statistical significance for all statistical tests in this report was p<0.05.

- many aspects of identifying gifted and talented students such as identification being multi-categorical, early and timely, ongoing and continuous across transition points, and incorporating informal and formal methods that are triangulated;
- school-wide coordination of, and provision for, gifted and talented programmes; and
- positive outcomes for gifted and talented students, such as enjoying school, being well supported to achieve, pastoral care of social and emotional wellbeing, and informing and consulting with parents about achievement and progress.

The particular aspects where there was the most significant difference between urban and rural schools were:

- having a designated person or team responsible for gifted and talented education;
- building capability through school-wide and ongoing professional development;
- providing gifted and talented education that is school-wide and across-curriculum; and
- acting on recommendations from self review of gifted and talented education.

CONCLUSION

Conclusion

The schools in this evaluation were at various stages in their provision. Many had established a shared understanding of gifted and talented education (GATE), and had implemented programmes that were beneficial to gifted and talented students. A few schools were just beginning to make special provision for gifted and talented students.

School leaders were enthusiastic about supporting the achievement of gifted and talented students in just over half the schools. This foundation was beneficial to the GATE provision in their schools. Almost half of the schools had inclusive and appropriate definitions and identification processes, and responsive and appropriate provision and programmes for gifted and talented students. Almost a quarter of schools had developed processes for reviewing the effectiveness of their provision. Nearly half the schools promoted positive outcomes for identified gifted and talented students.

The findings from this evaluation highlight three main stages for schools in providing good quality programmes for gifted and talented students. These are:

- a shared understanding about gifted and talented;
- good quality provision for gifted and talented; and
- positive outcomes for gifted and talented.

SHARED UNDERSTANDING ABOUT GIFTED AND TALENTED

ERO found that five factors contributed to the establishment of a shared understanding about gifted and talented in a school and its community. These factors were:

- leadership;
- policies and procedures;
- professional development;
- resourcing; and
- community involvement.

Three of these areas presented particular challenges to schools when it came to developing a shared understanding: sustaining leadership, school-wide professional development, and community involvement.

Leadership

In schools where ERO found good practice, there was strong leadership for gifted and talented education, either by a designated coordinator or a team knowledgeable and enthusiastic about gifted and talented education.

However, strong leadership for gifted and talented education remained a challenge for many schools. Many schools did not have a person who knew about gifted and talented education and was prepared to drive it. There remained a challenge of sustaining momentum in their provision if a dedicated person left the school.

Policies and procedures

Policies and procedures, developed in conjunction with the school community, that outlined the school's understanding of provision for gifted and talented students gave useful guidance for all members of the school community about the definition and identification of gifted and talented students and programmes and provision for them.

Professional development

In schools where ERO found good practice, school personnel had participated in school-wide professional development about gifted and talented education and relevant teaching and learning strategies to provide appropriate differentiation in the classroom. However, in most schools there was little or no participation in professional development about gifted and talented education.

Resourcing

Part of embedding provision for gifted and talented students in a school was the designation of a specific budget for gifted and talented education. It is important for the board to be aware of the benefits of providing this budget, and school leadership can promote this awareness through their self-review processes and in how they show achievement and progress of gifted and talented students.

Community involvement

Communicating, consulting and collaborating with parents, whānau and the school community was an important part of developing policies and procedures, and defining and identifying gifted and talented students. It was integral to creating a shared understanding about what giftedness and talent meant, reflecting community diversity.

However involving parents, whānau and the school community was a challenge for most schools. When parents, whānau, and the community did not have an appropriate understanding of the characteristics of gifted and talented students there was little support for provision for them in the school and the wider community.

GOOD QUALITY PROVISION FOR GIFTED AND TALENTED

ERO found five factors that contributed to good quality provision for gifted and talented students:

- identifying and meeting needs;
- reflecting diversity;
- providing challenging in-class provision;
- assessment; and
- self review.

Three of these areas were a particular challenge for schools: reflecting diversity, providing challenging in-class provision, and self review.

Identifying and meeting needs

Good procedures for identifying gifted and talented students included multiple sources and methods. These were multi-categorical, incorporated Māori and other cultural ways of identifying giftedness and talent, and identified students at all year levels and from a range of gifts and talents. Good quality provision began in the regular classroom, and out-of-class provision was linked back to the regular classroom programme.

In schools where ERO found very good practice, schools sought and included information from, and provided information to, education institutions such as early childhood services, primary, intermediate, and secondary schools and beyond. When clusters of educational institutions worked together to share knowledge and to provide consistency in provision, schools were better informed about the gifts and talents of their students.

Reflecting diversity

Gifted and talented students represent a diverse range of ethnic backgrounds and ages, and a multiplicity of gifts and talents. Schools' definitions and identification processes, as well their provision, should reflect this diversity. Community consultation and promoting understanding and participation were part of ensuring that the school was providing for all its gifted and talented students.

However, ERO found for most schools providing for this diversity was a challenge. Some schools did not recognise gifts and talents beyond the traditional academic and sporting, and often provision was limited to Years 4 to 10. Many schools had not met with parents and whānau of their Māori and other non-Pākehā students to develop a broader understanding of concepts about gifted and talented.

Providing challenging in-class provision

Providing challenge in the regular classroom was an important feature of good quality provision. Students at schools where ERO found good practice reported that their teachers challenged them to think, question, and solve problems, and to challenge themselves and their beliefs about their abilities. However, many classroom teachers did not have a good understanding about providing for gifted and talented students in the regular classroom or the teaching strategy needed for these students.

Assessment

Developing achievable and measurable outcomes for all areas of giftedness and talent allowed teachers to show appropriate achievement and progress. This was particularly important for developing next steps and maintaining challenges for students. To do so, teachers, parents and students worked together to identify and set goals for students' development of their gifts and talents. These goals were measurable in tests, performances, or development of skills and ability.

Self review

By reviewing the effectiveness of their provision, schools could make sure that their programmes for gifted and talented students were appropriate and effective. When teachers could show that students were making progress and achieving positive outcomes they were more likely to get the support of the board and parents for the ongoing provision for gifted and talented students.

Self-review processes were developed only somewhat or not at all in almost all schools. Most of these schools lacked any sort of system of self review, or any review was based on anecdotal evidence only, and was mostly about students' enjoyment rather than other outcomes for the students. The lack of a school self-review culture hindered schools' ability to ascertain how well they were providing for gifted and talented students.

POSITIVE OUTCOMES FOR GIFTED AND TALENTED

ERO found four factors that contributed to positive outcomes for gifted and talented students:

- valuing of gifts and talents and using them to benefit others;
- achievement and progress;
- pastoral care and social and emotional wellbeing; and
- involving parents, whānau and community.

Three of these areas were a particular challenge for schools when it came to promoting positive outcomes for gifted and talented students: achievement and progress, social and emotional wellbeing, and involving parents, whānau and community.

Valuing of gifts and talents and using them to benefit others

In schools where ERO found good practice, students felt that their gifts and talents were valued, fostered, and developed by their teachers. At these schools, there was a culture of celebrating success and sharing gifts and talents with others. In doing so, however, schools did face the challenge of ensuring students' gifts and talents were not used in such a way as to disadvantage the student themselves at the expense of benefiting others.

Achievement and progress

The use of both summative and formative assessment to encourage and demonstrate students' achievement and progress was an important aspect in promoting positive outcomes for gifted and talented students. Teachers' use of good assessment practices and achievement information across the variety of gifts and talents, as well as the teacher's own professional judgement, helped identify students' next steps for learning. This information was used to improve programmes, and to report to the board and community.

However, only some schools were able to demonstrate gifted and talented students' achievement and progress from a range of assessment information. Many students were not given feedback that allowed them to develop their gifts or talents.

Pastoral care and social and emotional wellbeing

Many schools had good pastoral care systems to nurture the social and emotional needs of gifted and talented students. At some schools, teachers had participated in professional development to develop their awareness of these specific social and emotional needs.

In other schools, ERO found little recognition of the specific social and emotional needs of these students, and their pastoral care was as for all students at the school. Often students were not given classwork that was differentiated for content, process, and product, and this meant they were not engaged, and could be bored, frustrated, or disruptive.

Involving parents, whanau and community

School leadership and teachers at some schools had meaningful communication with the parents and whānau of gifted and talented students, and the wider school community. Where ERO found good practice, schools had implemented a variety of practices to foster holistic wellbeing and to promote ongoing learning partnerships between teachers, parents, whānau, and students.

The main challenges for many schools were to foster discussions between the school personnel, parents and whānau about the cultural, spiritual, emotional, and social wellbeing of gifted and talented students; and for students to have more input into the direction or focus of their learning.

RECOMMENDATIONS

PAGE 54

Recommendations

ERO recommends that teachers:

- communicate, consult, and collaborate with parents, whānau, and the school community to develop a shared understanding of gifted and talented education;
- provide challenging and differentiated programmes for gifted and talented students in the regular classroom;
- provide appropriate feedback and support for gifted and talented students to achieve in and make progress with their gifts or talents;
- develop an understanding that every teacher has responsibility to teach the gifted and talented; and
- develop awareness of the particular social and emotional characteristics of gifted and talented students, and promote their holistic wellbeing.

ERO recommends that school leaders:

- designate a person or team to lead the school's provision for gifted and talented students and give them support;
- develop and foster a school-wide understanding of gifted and talented education;
- promote ongoing participation in school-wide professional development, and specialist training and development for people specifically responsible for gifted and talented education;
- develop inclusive and appropriate definitions and identification processes for gifted and talented students that reflect student diversity and encompass a variety of gifts and talents; and
- institute appropriate self-review processes to determine the effectiveness of provision for gifted and talented students.

ERO recommends that the Ministry of Education consider how best to:

- encourage schools to develop improved assessment strategies consistent with the New Zealand Curriculum, to demonstrate the range of abilities and the achievement of gifted and talented students;
- provide targeted, high quality professional development to rural and low decile schools on providing for gifted and talented students; and
- develop links and networks between clusters of early childhood services and schools so that there is ongoing support for gifted and talented students at transition points in the education.

Appendix One: Methodology

SAMPLE

ERO evaluated the provision for gifted and talented students in all schools where ERO carried out an education review in Term 3 and Term 4, 2007. The types of schools, school locality (urban or rural) and decile ranges of the schools are shown in Tables 1 to 3 below.

Table 1: School types

School type	Number	Percentage of sample	National percentage ²⁵
Full Primary (Y1-8)	131	42	44
Contributing (Y1–6)	112	36	32
Intermediate (Y7-8)	16	5	5
Special (Y1-15)	2	<1	2
Secondary (Y7-15)	10	3	4
Composite (Y1–15)	7	2	4
Restricted Composite (Y7-10)	2	<1	<1
Secondary (Y9–15)	35	11	9
Total	315	100	100

Table 1 shows that the types of schools in this sample are representative of national figures.

Table 2: School locality

Locality	Number	Percentage of sample	National percentage
Urban	229	73	70
Rural	86	27	30
Total	315	100	100

Table 2 shows that the numbers of urban and rural schools in the sample is representative of national figures.

APPENDIX ONE: METHODOLOGY

25 The national percentage of each school type is based on the total population of schools as at 1 July 2007. For this study it excludes kura kaupapa Māori and The Correspondence School. This applies to locality and decile in Tables 2 and 3.

Table 3: School decile ranges

Decile ²⁶	Number	Percentage of sample	National percentage
Low decile (1–3)	72	23	30
Middle decile (4–7)	138	44	40
High decile (8–10)	105	33	30
Total	315	100	100

Table 3 shows that low decile schools in the sample were slightly under-represented, in comparison to national figures, but this difference was not statistically significant.²⁷

DATA COLLECTION

Data collected by ERO during on-site evaluations

During an education review, ERO collects information from a variety of sources including:

- self-review information provided by the school;
- school strategic plans;
- school annual reports;
- the board of trustees' assurance of legal compliance (Board Assurance Statement and Self-Audit Checklist);
- other documentation including information held by ERO; and
- ERO's institutional database.

During an education review ERO has discussions with:

- members of the board;
- the principal;
- school managers;
- school staff;
- students;
- the Friend of the School (if involved); and
- members of the community (if appropriate).

For this evaluation ERO also considered information and observations from the following sources, gathered during the on-site part of the education review:

- teachers' work plans and assessment documents;
- classroom and playground observations;
- classroom and playground environments and displays;
- samples of students' work; and
- teaching and learning resources for gifted and talented education.

26 A school's decile indicates the extent to which a school draws its students from low socio-economic communities. Decile 1 schools are the 10 percent of schools with the highest proportion of students from low socio-economic communities, whereas decile 10 schools are the 10 percent of schools with the lowest proportion of these students.

27 The differences between observed and expected values were tested using a Chi square test.

APPENDIX TWO: GLOSSARY

Appendix Two: Glossary

Ability grouping	Students are placed in groups based on their ability in the relevant learning area. This grouping may be with students from their own class or from a number of classes.			
Acceleration	Curriculum activities that match the readiness and needs of the gifted student. In practice, students are exposed to new content at an earlier age than other children, or cover the same content in less time. See Chapter 11 of Gifted and Talented: New Zealand Perspectives edited by McAlpine D. and Moltzen R.			
Cluster group programmes	Some schools have formed geographical clusters to provide programmes for gifted and talented students from a number of schools. Often these clusters have applied for, and received, Ministry of Education funding, for example the Talent Development Initiatives Funding Pool, which is part of the New Zealand Government's gifted education policy.			
Cooperative learning	A cooperative learning programme includes the following components:			
	Positive interdependence – students work in groups with assigned roles to achieve common goals;			
	Individual accountability – students are equally responsible for the group's success and can therefore be held accountable;			
	Group processing – students reflect on how well their group functioned in working towards the group's learning goals;			
	Social skills are incorporated in ways that students can identify their use and purpose.			
	Cooperative learning involves a deliberate intention of transforming individuals into committed and productive members of a cohesive team.			
Differentiated teaching and learning	Differentiated teaching and learning involves creating multiple paths so that students of different abilities, interest or learning needs experience equally appropriate ways to absorb, use, develop and present concepts as a part of the daily learning process. It allows students to take greater responsibility and ownership for their own learning, and provides opportunities for peer teaching and cooperative learning.			

Enrichment and extension	Providing qualitatively differentiated learning experiences to broaden and deepen students' conceptual understanding, according to their abilities and needs.			
Enviroschools	The Enviroschools Foundation is a charitable trust that provides support and strategic direction for a nation-wide environmental education programme. Implementation is on a regional basis, along regional council boundaries. The national team works with Enviroschools Regional Coordinators to support the creation of sustainable schools via:			
	The Facilitated Enviroschools Programme – where schools sign-up to a 3-year process of environmental learning and action; as an enviro-school they gain access to an extensive resource kit and a trained facilitator.			
	The Enviroschools Awards Scheme – an incentive scheme for schools to become actively involved in environmental education through achieving bronze, silver and green/gold levels with the assistance of an awards booklet.			
	See http://www.enviroschools.org.nz/ for more information.			
Extending High Standards Across Schools	Extending High Standards Across Schools (EHSAS) is designed to raise student achievement by promoting excellence among New Zealand's schools. Funding is made available to successful schools to improve student outcomes by developing and extending their proven practice in collaboration with other schools in a self-selected cluster. The emphasis is on developing professional networks and improving the evidence-base around what works to improve student outcomes.			
	The principles behind EHSAS are to raise student achievement by promoting excellence in the school system and supporting high standards. EHSAS projects can run for up to four years and schools can only be involved in one EHSAS project at a time.			
Future Problem Solving	Future Problem Solving is a year-long programme where students, working in teams, learn and apply a six-step problem solving process that provides them with the tools to tackle problems that they will meet throughout their life. Throughout the year, students apply the process to consider the challenges			

own communities. The programme encourages students to carry out in-depth research, to think creatively and critically, apply ethical thinking skills and to work as part of a team. S http://www.fpsnz.co.nz/ for more information.	
Individual An Individual Education Plan is usually developed for stude Education Plans An Individual Education needs. It outlines the student's goals at the time in which those goals should be achieved. The plan also describes the teaching strategies, resources, monitoring and support, and the evaluation required to enable the stude to meet those goals. It is developed in a meeting between parents/caregivers, the child's teacher, the child (if they wish attend) and specialists as appropriate. The aim is to identify current strengths, to set short and long term goals together the the child, and record their learning progress.	ent to for
Visit the Ministry of Education website for more information http://www.minedu.govt.nz/index.cfm?layout=document&doumentid=10761	
Inquiry learning Inquiry-based learning is a constructivist approach, in which students have ownership of their learning. It starts with exploration and questioning and leads to investigation into a worthy question, issue, problem or idea. It involves asking questions, gathering and analysing information, generating solutions, making decisions, justifying conclusions and takin action. Inquiry-based learning approaches can help develop higher-order, information literacy and critical thinking skills They can also develop problem-solving abilities and develop skills for lifelong learning.	r 1g
Inter and intra personal skillsNon-cognitive skills of understanding and managing other people. Howard Gardner's Multiple Intelligences includes both interpersonal intelligence (capacity to understand the intentions, motivations, and desires of other people) and intrapersonal intelligence (the capacity to understand onesel to appreciate one's feelings, fears, and motivations).	f,
Learning intentions Making learning explicit to students by using language they understand to explain what they are learning.	

SCHOOLS' PROVISION FOR GIFTED AND TALENTED STUDENTS

Learning pathways	The New Zealand Curriculum (2007) provides guidelines for schools about providing learning pathways for students in their journey from early childhood education to tertiary education that prepares them for and connects well with the next stage. Schools' curriculum design should make transitions positive and give students a clear sense of continuity and direction (p41).				
Manaakitanga	Hospitality, kindness, ge	nerosity.			
Multi-categorical	Gifted and talented students represent students with many different special abilities. Some may be gifted and talented in science or mathematics, others in visual arts or literacy, and others in leadership. Gifted and talented does not only include students with high intelligence.				
Multiple intelligences	Howard Gardner's eight pluralistic view of intellig	multiple intelligences support a gence, and include:			
	Bodily/Kinesthetic	physical movement and knowledge of the use of the body			
	Interpersonal	relationships and communication, understanding others			
	Intrapersonal	knowledge of own thinking and emotions			
	Logical/Mathematical	mathematical and scientific reasoning			
	Musical/Rhythmic sensitivity to rhythm, beats, tonal patterns; performance a composition				
	Naturalist curiosity about natural worl to classify flora and fauna				
	Verbal/Linguistic concerned with words and language				
	Visual/Spatial comprehension of the visual world and creation of mental images				
	Visit http://www.tki.org.nz/r/gifted/reading/theory/gardner_ e.php for more information.				

Philosophy for Children	Philosophy for Children is a thinking skills programme in critical and creative thinking. Philosophy for Children improves critical, creative and rigorous thinking. Participants develop their higher order thinking skills and the attitudes and dispositions necessary for good thinking. They improve their communication skills and their abilities to work with others. See http://www.p4c.org.nz/ for more information.
Questioning skills (higher order questioning)	Skills to help students to develop better questioning by understanding the features of an effective question and the skills of an effective questioner. Rather than ask closed questions, students learn to ask relevant, open questions based on what, who, when, why, where, which, and how.
Streaming or banding	Students are placed in classes based on their abilities.
Success criteria	Making learning explicit to students by providing them with criteria to measure their success.
Technology challenges	The most well known of these is the BP Technology Challenge. The BP Challenge is an event between teams, challenging them to design and develop 'solutions' to problems using easily resourced materials e.g. paper, string, sticky tape. The BP Challenge helps students develop personal and team skills. The programme is sponsored by BP Oil NZ Ltd and administered by the Royal Society of New Zealand.
	See http://www.rsnz.org/education/bp_chall/ for more information.
Te Manu Aute	Te Manu Aute, based in Northland, is a TDI organised by the University of Auckland and Team Solutions for students with gifts and talents in the arts. See http://www.temanuaute.org.nz/
Thinking skills	Giving students the skills to be creative, critical and metacognitive thinkers so they can make sense of information, experiences, and ideas. These skills help them to develop understanding, solve problems, make decisions, shape actions, and construct knowledge. Examples of thinking skills programmes include: de Bono's Thinking Hats, Thinking Maps, Bloom's Taxonomy, Philosophy for Children (P4C), Future Problem Solving, and Thinker's Keys.
Tikanga	Procedure, custom, protocol that reinforce Māori beliefs and values.

SCHOOLS' PROVISION FOR GIFTED AND TALENTED STUDENTS

Tu	akana-teina	 Tuakana/teina refers to the relationship between an older (tuakana) person and a younger (teina) person and is specific to teaching and learning in the Māori context. Within teaching and learning contexts, this can take a variety of forms: Peer to peer – teina teaches teina, tuakana teaches tuakana. Younger to older – the teina has some skills in an area that the tuakana does not and is able to teach the tuakana. Older to younger – the tuakana has the knowledge and content to pass on to the teina. Able to less able – the learner may not be as able in an area, and someone more skilled can teach what is required.
		methods_e.php
W	ithdrawal	Students are regularly removed from their regular classroom for work with a specialist teacher, participation in a mini-course, seminar, educational field trip, or interactions with a special guest.

Appendix Three: Self-review questions and indicators for your school

Q1. How well does our school leadership support the achievement of gifted and talented students?

Indicators

1.1 The provision of gifted and talented education is embedded in our school culture and practice.

1.2 We have a school-wide shared understanding about gifted and talented education.

1.3 We have regular communication, consultation, and collaboration amongst all members of our school community, including staff, parents, whānau, students, and the wider community.

1.4 Our school has good quality policies, procedures or plans for gifted and talented education.

1.5 Our school has leadership for the provision of gifted and talented education eg principal, designated coordinator/team.

1.6 Our school is building capability through a planned approach to school-wide and ongoing professional development and performance management.

1.7 Our gifted and talented education is well resourced through informed decision-making about staffing, funding, and programmes.

Q2. How inclusive and appropriate are our school's processes for defining and identifying giftedness and talent?

Indicators

- 2.1 Our school's definition of giftedness and talent:
 - 2.1a Reflects the context and values of our school community.
 - 2.1b Is multi-categorical.
 - 2.1c Incorporates Māori concepts.
 - 2.1d Incorporates multicultural concepts.
 - 2.1e Is grounded in sound research and theories
- 2.2 Our school's identification process:
 - 2.2a Is multi-categorical.
 - 2.2b Includes Māori theories and knowledge.

2.2c Includes multi-culturally appropriate methods.

2.2d Includes both informal and formal identification.

2.2e Includes triangulation.

2.2f Is early and timely.

2.2g Is ongoing, covers transition points and ensures continuity.

2.2h Includes potential and actual/demonstrated performance.

2.3 Our students that we have identified reflect the diversity of the school population.

2.4 Our policies and procedures have been developed in consultation with our wider school community as appropriate.

2.5 We have regular communication, consultation and collaboration amongst all members of our school community.

Q3. How effective is our school's provision for gifted and talented students?

Indicators

3.1 We have school-wide coordination of our programmes and provision.

3.2 Our programmes and provision have been developed in consultation with our wider school community as appropriate.

3.3 Our programmes and provision are provided across the curriculum as appropriate.

3.4 Our programmes and provision are provided across all areas of giftedness and talent as appropriate.

3.5 Our regular classroom programmes are differentiated for content, process, and product.²⁸

3.6 Our beyond the regular classroom programmes are planned, monitored, evaluated, and reported.

3.7 Our off-site programmes are planned, monitored, evaluated, and reported.

3.8 Our beyond the regular classroom and off-site programmes are linked back to our regular classroom programmes.

3.9 We have a range of assessment information that demonstrates the achievement and progress of our gifted and talented students.

3.10 Our programmes are inclusive of Māori values, tikanga, and pedagogy.

3.11 Our provision of gifted and talented education is school-wide.

28 See pp36–37 of the Ministry of Education's Gifted and Talented Students, Meeting Their Needs in New Zealand Schools for an explanation of these concepts.

Q4. How well does our school review the effectiveness of our provision for gifted and talented students?

Indicators

4.1 We have a systematic and ongoing process for evaluating the outcomes for our students.

4.2 Our school shares and consults about evaluation findings with staff, parents/whānau, students, and our community.

4.3 Our school acts on recommendations arising from our evaluation.

4.4 We evaluate the impact of our programmes and provisions, both internal and external to our school.

Q5. To what extent do our gifted and talented programmes promote positive outcomes for our gifted and talented students?

Indicators

5.1 Our gifted and talented students enjoy school.

5.2 Our gifted and talented students receive regular feedback on their achievement and progress.

5.3 Our gifted and talented students are well supported to achieve.

5.4 Our gifted and talented students' social and emotional wellbeing is nurtured through pastoral care.

5.5 Our gifted and talented students are provided with opportunities and choice to use their gifts and talents to benefit our other students and our wider community.

5.6 Our gifted and talented students feel their gifts and talents are valued.

5.7 We have focused communication between our school, parents and whānau that supports our gifted and talented students' holistic wellbeing (cultural, spiritual, emotional, and social).

5.8 Parents of our gifted and talented students are informed by, and consult with, teachers about their child's achievement and progress.

EVALUA

PAGE 66

Appendix Four: Evaluation Statistics

Q1. How well does the school leadership support the achievement of gifted and talented students?

Indicators	Substantial evidence	Convincing evidence	Some evidence	Very limited evidence
1.1 The provision of gifted and talented education is embedded in school culture and practice.	10%	30%	33%	27%
1.2 There is a school-wide shared understanding about gifted and talented education.	7%	28%	32%	33%
1.3 There is regular communication, consultation, and collaboration amongst all members of the school community, including staff, parents, whānau, students, and the wider community.	4%	21%	34%	41%
1.4 The school has good quality policies, procedures or plans for gifted and talented education.	13%	32%	28%	27%
1.5 There is leadership for the provision of gifted and talented education eg principal, designated coordinator/team.	30%	30%	23%	17%
1.6 The school is building capability through a planned approach to school-wide and ongoing professional development and performance management.	14%	24%	25%	37%
1.7 Gifted and talented education is well resourced through informed decision-making about staffing, funding, and programmes.	13%	25%	29%	33%

Q2. How inclusive and appropriate are the school's processes for defining and identifying giftedness and talent?

Substantial evidence	Convincing evidence	Some evidence	Very limited evidence			
2.1 The school's definition of giftedness and talent:						
15%	27%	19%	39%			
21%	28%	16%	35%			
6%	15%	19%	60%			
2%	12%	22%	64%			
12%	27%	23%	38%			
ss:						
18%	29%	20%	33%			
4%	11%	17%	68%			
3%	9%	22%	66%			
16%	27%	30%	27%			
10%	21%	23%	46%			
13%	23%	26%	38%			
9%	19%	29%	43%			
7%	27%	32%	34%			
13%	29%	19%	39%			
6%	12%	24%	58%			
	evidence 15% 15% 21% 6% 12% 12% 12% 3% 18% 3% 10% 10% 3% 13% 3% 13% 13%	evidence evidence less and tale 15% 27% 15% 28% 21% 28% 12% 12% 12% 227% 12% 227% 12% 227% 12% 21% 12% 22% 12% 21% 12% 21% 12% 21% 13% 22% 13% 23% 13% 23% 13% 22% 13% 23% 13% 22%	evidence evidence evidence ass and taler: 15% 27% 19% 15% 27% 19% 21% 28% 16% 6% 15% 19% 6% 15% 19% 12% 22% 22% 12% 27% 23% 12% 27% 23% 12% 29% 20% 13% 29% 20% 16% 29% 30% 11% 11% 17% 3% 9% 22% 16% 27% 30% 11% 21% 30% 11% 21% 23% 10% 21% 23% 13% 23% 26% 13% 21% 32% 13% 29% 19% 13% 29% 19%			

Indicators	Substantial evidence	Convincing evidence	Some evidence	Very limited evidence
2.5 There is regular communication, consultation and collaboration amongst all members of the school community.	5%	18%	30%	47%

Q3. How effective is the school's provision for gifted and talented students?

Indicators	Substantial evidence	Convincing evidence	Some evidence	Very limited evidence
3.1 There is school-wide coordination of programmes and provision.	20%	27%	22%	31%
3.2 Programmes and provision have been developed in consultation with the wider school community as appropriate.	4%	17%	30%	49%
3.3 Programmes and provision are provided across the curriculum as appropriate.	11%	30%	33%	26%
3.4 Programmes and provision are provided across all areas of giftedness and talent as appropriate.	7%	23%	32%	38%
3.5 Regular classroom programmes are differentiated for content, process, and product.	11%	29%	33%	27%
3.6 Beyond the regular classroom programmes are planned, monitored, evaluated, and reported.(Based on 280 schools with beyond the regular classroom programmes)	9%	15%	33%	43%
3.7 Off-site programmes are planned, monitored, evaluated, and reported. (Based on 280 schools with off-site programmes)	6%	14%	23%	57%

SCHOOLS' PROVISION FOR GIFTED AND TALENTED STUDENTS

PAGE 69

Indicators	Substantial evidence	Convincing evidence	Some evidence	Very limited evidence
3.8 Beyond the regular classroom and offsite programmes are linked back to the regular classroom programme. (Based on 280 schools)	5%	17%	25%	53%
3.9 A range of assessment information demonstrates the achievement and progress of gifted and talented sttudents.	8%	25%	32%	35%
3.10 Programmes are inclusive of Māori values, tikanga, and pedagogy.	5%	12%	26%	57%
3.11 The provision of gifted and talented education is school-wide.	15%	27%	27%	31%

Q4. How well does the school review the effectiveness of their provision for gifted and talented students?

Indicators	Substantial evidence	Convincing evidence	Some evidence	Very limited evidence
4.1 There is a systematic and ongoing process for evaluating the outcomes for students.	9%	14%	23%	54%
4.2 The school shares and consults about evaluation findings with staff, parents/whānau, students, and the community.	2%	13%	27%	58%
4.3 The school acts on recommendations arising from evaluation.	6%	12%	22%	60%
4.4 The impact of programmes and provisions, both internal and external to the school, is evaluated.	4%	9%	24%	63%

Q5. To what extent do gifted and talented programmes promote positive outcomes for gifted and talented students?

Indicators	Substantial evidence	Convincing evidence	Some evidence	Very limited evidence
5.1 Gifted and talented students enjoy school.	26%	30%	19%	25%
5.2 Gifted and talented students receive regular feedback on their achievement and progress.	16%	29%	29%	26%
5.3 Gifted and talented students are well supported to achieve.	20%	32%	25%	23%
5.4 Gifted and talented students' social and emotional wellbeing is nurtured through pastoral care.	26%	30%	21%	23%
5.5 Gifted and talented students are provided with opportunities and choice to use their gifts and talents to benefit other students and the wider community.	15%	25%	28%	32%
5.6 Gifted and talented students feel their gifts and talents are valued.	18%	29%	24%	29%
5.7 Focused communication between school, parents and whānau support gifted and talented students' holistic wellbeing (cultural, spiritual, emotional, and social).	9%	25%	29%	37%
5.8 Parents of gifted and talented students are informed by, and consult with, teachers about their child's achievement and progress.	18%	29%	27%	26%

Education Review Offices

Corporate Office

Level 1, Sybase House 101 Lambton Quay Box 2799 Wellington 6140 Phone: 04 499 2489 Fax: 04 499 2482 info@ero.govt.nz

Te Uepū-ā-Motu

c/o Corporate Office Phone: 04 499 2489 Fax: 04 499 2482 erotu@ero.govt.nz

Auckland (Area 1) Level 5, URS Centre 13–15 College Hill Ponsonby Box 7219 Wellesley Street Auckland 1010 Phone: 09 377 1331 Fax: 09 373 3421 auckland@ero.govt.nz

Moana Pasefika c/o Auckland Office Phone: 09 377 1331 Fax: 09 373 3421 auckland@ero.govt.nz

Hamilton (Area 2) Floor 4, ASB Building 214 Collingwood Street Private Bag 3095 WMC Hamilton 3240 Phone: 07 838 1898 Fax: 07 838 1893 hamilton@ero.govt.nz

Rotorua (Area 2) Floor 5, Zens Centre 41 Arawa Street Box 335 Rotorua 3040 Phone: 07 348 2228 Fax: 07 348 1498 rotorua@ero.govt.nz

www.ero.govt.nz

Napier (Area 3)

Level 1, 43 Station Street Box 742 Napier 4140 Phone: 06 835 8143 Fax: 06 835 8578 napier@ero.govt.nz

Wanganui (Area 3)

Floor 1, Education House 249 Victoria Avenue Box 4023 Wanganui 4541 Phone: 06 345 4091 Fax: 06 345 7207 wanganui@ero.govt.nz

Wellington (Area 4)

Floor 8, Southmark Building 203–209 Willis Street Box 27 002 Marion Square Wellington 6141 Phone: 04 381 6800 Fax: 04 381 6801 wellington@ero.govt.nz

Nelson (Area 4)

Floor 2, 241 Hardy Street Box 169 Nelson 7040 Phone: 03 546 8513 Fax: 03 546 2259 nelson@ero.govt.nz

Christchurch (Area 5)

Floor 4, Pyne Gould Corporation Building 233 Cambridge Terrace Box 25 102 Victoria Street Christchurch 8144 Phone: 03 365 5860 Fax: 03 366 7524 christchurch@ero.govt.nz

Dunedin (Area 5) Floor 9, John Wickliffe House Princes Street Box 902 Dunedin 9054 Phone: 03 479 2619 Fax: 03 479 2614 dunedin@ero.govt.nz





Ne<u>w Zeala</u>nd Government

FB·07·08»6000